

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Achieving Improved Glycemic Control Among Hispanic Type 2 Diabetic Adults

Morenike Oyegbami *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Nursing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Morenike Oyegbami

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Barbara Niedz, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Margaret Harvey, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Sophia Brown, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2019

## Abstract

Achieving Improved Glycemic Control Among Hispanic Type 2 Diabetic Adults

by

Morenike T. Oyegbami

MS, California State University Dominguez Hills, 2016

BS, Bloomfield College, 2007

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

May 2019

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes is a major chronic health disease in the United States. A main concern of clinicians treating patients with Type 2 diabetes is poor glycemic control. The goal of this project was to improve glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adult patients in a private family practice clinic through the implementation of biweekly telephonic intervention focused on diabetes management by an advanced practice nurse/nurse practitioner. The project was guided by the chronic care model as a framework. The intervention was conducted over a 12-week period with 50 patients, ages 18 to 65. Data were collected from chart and log reviews, personal interviews, telephone calls, and use of questionnaires. Data were de-identified and used for secondary analyses. The interviews and telephone calls focused on self-care activities and daily practices related to the disease management. There were statistically significant reductions in fasting blood sugar (p=.042) and glycated hemoglobin results (p=.002) as well as improvement in diabetes self-care activities over the 12-week project timeframe. Qualitative data supported patients' recommitment to diabetes self-care management through daily blood sugar testing, attention to diet, exercise, and daily journaling. This project might lead to positive social change through improved disease management and better glycemic control. The project might also enable the Type 2 diabetic patients to make health and lifestyle choices that positively influence their day-to-day health.

# Achieving Improved Glycemic Control Among Hispanic Type 2 Diabetic Adults

by

Morenike T. Oyegbami

MS, California State University Dominguez Hills, 2016

BS, Bloomfield College, 2007

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

May 2019

#### Dedication

I dedicate this project to my two sons, Jordan and Israel, for their perseverance, sacrifices, and patience throughout my educational journey. I love you both so much. This project is also dedicated to my late father, Prof. S.A Gesinde, who taught me the value of education. To my precious mother, Christianah Gesinde, you have always loved me unconditionally and taught me to work hard and never give up on my dreams. I am truly thankful for having you in my life.

## Acknowledgments

First, I want to give thanks to God Almighty for His mercies, favor, and strength. Had it not been God, I would not be where I am today. I thank all my instructors and the faculty for your guidance and teachings over the course of this program and project. Finally, to all my preceptors, especially Dr. Austin and Dolores, you believed in me and have been a great influence in my journey to become a Doctor of Nursing Practice. I sincerely appreciate you both.

List of Tables	iii	
Section 1: Nature of the Project	1	
Introduction	1	
Problem Statement	2	
Purpose	3	
Nature of the Doctoral Project	5	
Significance	7	
Summary	9	
Section 2: Background and Context	11	
Introduction	11	
Concepts, Models, and Theories	12	
Self-Care Management in Diabetes		
Glycemic Control in Hispanic Patients with Diabetes: Barriers and		
Solutions		
Models and Theories	17	
Relevance to Nursing Practice	18	
Local Background and Context	20	
Role of the DNP Student		
Role of the Project Team	23	
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence		
Introduction		

# Table of Contents

Practice-Focused Question	
Sources of Evidence	27
Published Outcomes and Research	
Archival and Operational Data	
Evidence Generated for the Doctoral Project	
Analysis and Synthesis	
Summary	
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	34
Introduction	34
Findings and Implications	
Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team	43
Strength and Limitation of the Project	44
Summary	46
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	47
Analysis of Self	48
Summary	50
References	51
Appendix A: Literature Review Matrix Template	60
Appendix B: Coaching Questionnaire	71
Appendix C: Documentation Template	72
Appendix D: Qualitative Results	

# List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statis	tics on Compliance with the Coaching Program	n37
Table 2. Diabetic Patients'	A1c Control from Baseline to Endpoint	40

#### Section 1: Nature of the Project

#### Introduction

Type 2 diabetes is one of the major public health diseases in the United States. The risks for the disease vary across races and ethnicities as well as among different socioeconomic statuses (SES). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC] (2015), diabetes was classified as the seventh top root cause of mortality in the United States in 2013. Also, Type 2 diabetes accounts for about 90-95% of diagnosed cases in U.S adults (CDC, 2015). Sadly, the Hispanic adult patient population has a higher burden for this chronic disease than most of the other patient populations in the country (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2014). One main concern of Type 2 diabetes in this population is poor glycemic control (CDC, 2017b). The doctor of nursing practice (DNP) project was part of a pre-existing quality improvement initiative at the project site. The primary goal of this project was to evaluate the impact of an intervention targeted to improve glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adult patients. The intervention comprised of biweekly follow-ups and coaching telephone calls to the patients by an advanced practice nurse/nurse practitioner. The interviews and telephone calls focused on self-care activities like self-monitoring of blood glucose, medication compliance, education on diet and physical activity, and factors that serve as barriers and facilitators to achieving better glycemic control.

The DNP project was guided by the chronic care model as a framework and the use of the Walden institutional review board (IRB) quality improvement (QI) manual was employed. The scope of the DNP project was to evaluate the degree to which the intervention impacts glycemic control. The positive social change implications of this quality improvement project were that it allowed various social issues facing the Hispanic population such as SES and health care inequality, which then aided in the efficient management of the disease and improvement of glycemic control (see Manders et al., 2016).

#### **Problem Statement**

The local nursing practice problem which was the main emphasis of this doctoral project is poor glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes which leads to poor outcomes and this is a major concern in the diabetic adult Hispanic population and for health care providers. According to the CDC (2014), Hispanics/Latinos are among the main ethnicities that have frequent diagnosis and a higher risk for the disease and its various complications. Similarly, the CDC (2017b) stated that racial and ethnic minority groups are more prone to have Type 2 diabetes during their life span and over half of all Hispanic men and women are predicted to develop the disease. The ADA (2014) reported that Hispanic people are about 50% more likely to die from diabetes than White people. Likewise, a study finding revealed the prevalence of both diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes among all men and women Hispanic/Latino groups to be approximately 17% in comparison to 10% for non-Hispanic whites (ADA, 2014).

The local relevance of the need to address this problem is that improved glycemic control is vital in the management of Type 2 diabetes because it increases the quality of life of the patient, reduces morbidity and mortality rates, and decreases health care costs (Bilous & Donnelly, 2014; Manders et al., 2016). The setting that was the subject of the

QI intervention and the DNP project is a privately-owned family practice clinic in a popular city in Los Angeles County that has a significant number of Hispanic adult patient population with Type 2 diabetes. Glycemic control has always been a problem for these patients due to varied reasons, which have impacted their health outcomes in significant ways. Out of the 413 registered patients at the chosen site for this project, 305 are adults while the rest are children. About 200 of the 305 are documented to have Type 2 diabetes. Of these, 105 are Hispanics, 54 are African Americans, and the rest are Caucasians or from other ethnicities. The Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) data used at the site is standard and covered glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) control, retinal eye exam, blood pressure control, and medical attention for nephropathy (National Committee for Quality Assurance [NCQA], 2018). Before the project, the average HbA1c for the Type 2 diabetic adult Hispanics at the clinic was 9.9%, which signified poor glycemic control, compared to 7.9% for the non-Hispanics. These results were used to guide the clinic in developing quality initiatives, educational programs, and evaluating performances.

#### Purpose

In the Hispanic population, Garcia et al. (2016) reported some lack of knowledge in diabetes prevention and management due to socioeconomic disparities. Lower levels of education, employment, income, and wealth are found in this population when compared to other ethnicities or races (Garcia et al., 2016). Each of these factors have different kinds of influences on health behavior and result in the development of chronic diseases such as diabetes. The purpose of this project was to assess the effect of an evidence-based intervention, such as the implementation of biweekly phone calls, to Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adult patients' glycemic control. Blood sugar levels that are well controlled can enhance these patients' quality of life, result in fewer long-term complications including mortality and morbidity (American Association of Diabetes Educators [AADE], 2014b). This project also provided insight to the primary care providers at the site as well as involved stakeholders regarding the various barriers these patients encounter in managing their diabetes and living healthier lives.

The present process at the outpatient clinics includes rudimentary steps in managing Type 2 diabetics. For example, upon diagnosis, patients are provided with dietary instruction, journaling tools, and patient education regarding daily blood sugar testing using a glucometer. Follow up with these patients is typically, once a month; if a patient misses a clinic appointment, there is little or no follow up. This lack of attention to the detail of patient care management represents a significant gap in practice (Ba-Essa et al., 2018). As a result, patients exhibit high HbA1c levels, often do not follow through with self-blood glucose monitoring, recommended dietary changes, or exercise activities (Ba-Essa et al., 2018). Also, some of these patients miss their clinic appointments and are not followed up with as expected, which leads to poor management of their diabetes and poor health outcomes. Therefore, the guiding practice focused question for this project was: Will the implementation of an evidence-based QI intervention, such as biweekly telephone interventions/calls by the advanced practice nurse, in addition to their standard treatment regimens, yield better glycemic control among adult Hispanics with Type 2 diabetes? This doctoral project dealt with the above gaps-in-practice by examining the

various cultural practices and beliefs and socioeconomic barriers these patient population face which hinders their health outcomes, and then offered evidence-based intervention(s) to address them. Some major causes of diabetes in Hispanics include stress, diet and eating habits, and cultural beliefs or behaviors (Concha, Mayer, Mezuk, & Avula, 2016). Stress from work contributes to unhealthy eating habits. Inquiring from these patients what their causation beliefs and emotional statuses are aided in the prioritization of their diabetes treatment and management (Concha et al., 2016).

#### **Nature of the Doctoral Project**

The nature of the project in the effort to improve glycemic control among this patient population was to evaluate an evidence-based intervention that included biweekly phone calls in addition to the standard treatment plan, for a selected number of Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adults. The QI intervention included biweekly coaching sessions which focused on addressing knowledge deficits regarding diabetes, self-care activities like blood glucose monitoring, diet and exercise education, and troubleshooting any problems that hindered success.

The intervention was carried out over a 12-week period with a convenience, random sampling of patients (n=50), ages 18-65. As stated before, the participants were recruited from a family practice clinic and selected based on Hispanic ethnicity, a diagnosis of Type 2 diabetes, a willingness to carry out self-blood glucose monitoring daily as educated, and expression of readiness to engage in telephonic calls with the advanced practice nurse on a biweekly basis. Patients with mental health disorders or cognitive impairment, acutely ill, or with limited life expectancy, and those pregnant were excluded from the project. Replacement glucometers were ordered for some of the participants as deemed fit. The intervention comprised of initial individual face-to-face meetings with the patients chosen to participate in the project, then biweekly follow-up telephone calls. The interviews and telephone calls focused on self-care activities such as blood glucose self-monitoring, medication compliance, diet, physical activity education, and factors that serve as barriers and facilitators to achieving better glycemic control.

The QI plan involved two nurse practitioners who participated in the intervention and managed 25 participants each, making a total of 50 patient participants. Patients were encouraged to test their sugars in the morning (fasting) and throughout the day. The selfreported fasting blood glucose values and HbA1c results were used as the DNP project evaluation measures and were provided to the APRNs after de-identification for secondary analysis regarding the 12-week intervention. The goal of the QI intervention was to have both HbA1c and fasting blood glucose levels lower and towards or within targeted ranges than before the intervention. Necessary changes to treatment, plan diagnostic testing, and appropriate referrals were carried out as necessary after review with the primary care physician. Teach-back and return demonstrations were also implemented as part of the coaching process when appropriate, to ensure understanding of the diabetes education provided as well as to evaluate that the teaching method used was effective.

The biweekly phone calls served as a rich source of qualitative information about barriers to effective patient care management in this patient population. Documentation was housed in the electronic health record (EHR) as a checklist template, and with narrative notes for each encounter. All data were downloaded from the EHR, deidentified, placed in an excel file, and provided to me for secondary analysis in the DNP project. The qualitative component was included in the DNP QI evaluation that highlighted factors leading to success or failure with improved HbA1c and SBGM fasting levels.

#### Significance

Evidence-based interventions have been beneficial and have worked in enhancing glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic adults in various populations and settings. For example, Lee, Greenfield, and Pappas (2018) discussed the use and effect of telehealth remote patient monitoring on glycemic control in Type 2 diabetics. Manders et al. (2016) explored the effect of a Type 2 diabetes in-hospital treatment protocol which was managed by a nurse while Shen et al. (2018) analyzed the efficacy of internet-based interventions on glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic patients. Furthermore, Zhou et al. (2014) demonstrated that telemedicine systems can influence glycemic control positively in the treatment of Type 2 diabetes, especially in cases where there are lack of transportation and barriers to access outpatient clinics.

This project intervention and evaluation plan align with clinical practice guidelines because the ADA (2014) reported a higher prevalence of total diabetes (both diagnosed and undiagnosed) among all Hispanic/Latino groups (approximately 17 %) when compared to non-Hispanic whites (10%). Furthermore, in the effort to promote health and reduce disparities in populations, the ADA (2017) mentioned that there are various factors that impact glycemic control in diabetes like food insecurities, cultural and ethnic differences, lack of support, language barriers, and knowledge deficit. There was a plan to address all these during the project period in order to reduce or eliminate the barriers to Type 2 diabetes management, reduce comorbidities, and mortality rates. This, in turn, led to a positive influence in nursing practice by enhancing the quality of care and health outcomes for these patients. The chronic care model serves as a guide when initiating diabetes treatment plans in order to achieve productive health outcomes and interactions between the health care team and the patients (ADA, 2017).

In the improvement of glycemic control in Hispanic adults with Type 2 diabetes, various stakeholders ought to be involved as this is a public health problem. The CDC, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), and the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases are federal agencies that provide appropriate guidance and health information on various chronic diseases including Type 2 diabetes. These agencies are significant stakeholders where diabetes is concerned. Also, it is essential that membership and advocacy organizations such as the American Association of Diabetes AADE and ADA, as well as public health officials, health care providers, the hospital/ health system leadership, and the target communities, patients and their families are all involved in T2DM management in order to improve health outcomes. On the local level, stakeholders such as diabetes educators, dieticians, endocrinologists, social workers, clinicians, and patients and their family members who were likely to be impacted by addressing the problem were all involved.

Community stakeholders are important in helping to address concerns among Hispanics, these are known people who work for community establishments or agencies that provide care, services or outreach to Hispanic individuals with diabetes (CDC, 2015; Schmittdiel et al., 2015). These stakeholders can use various establishments and companies as channels of intervention, promote cultural competence and awareness among health care professionals and volunteers, distribute appropriate information as well as organize activities to promote awareness of diabetes prevention and disease-management strategies (Schmittdiel et al., 2015). Therefore, there is a great potential transferability of the findings of this doctoral project to other practice areas such as inpatient and public health settings, in the effort to improve health outcomes and quality of lives.

Clark and Utz (2014) reported that a goal for diabetes, according to Healthy People 2020, is to lessen the disease and economic liability of the disease and enhance the quality of life for everyone who has or is susceptible to the disease. By improving the quality of life and health outcomes of those with Type 2 diabetes in various communities and the society, positive social change is achieved. These patients will have a better chance at life, live longer and healthier, have decreased rates of comorbidities, and contribute to the society positively.

#### Summary

This evidence-based intervention enabled patient coaching for improved blood glucose and self-care by removing any deficits in knowledge. The CDC (2017b) reported that multiple care delivery issues such as health disparities, cultural sensitivity, access to care, socioeconomic factors, and inequity are some of the barriers the Hispanic population face when it comes to chronic disease management. This project has contributed to positive social change because it addressed the above social issues facing this population which in turn aided in the improvement of their glycemic control. Furthermore, it is a significance to nursing practice because good glycemic control increases the quality of life of the patient, reduce morbidity and mortality rates, and decrease health care costs (Manders et al., 2016).

#### Section 2: Background and Context

#### Introduction

The practice problem discussed in this doctoral project was poor glycemic control among Hispanic adults with Type 2 diabetes and the implementation of an evidencebased intervention to address the issue. The expected results included improved glycemic control, enhanced quality of life, and other related health outcomes as reported by Hua et al. (2017). These researchers conducted a systematic review by researching costeffectiveness studies that used Type 2 diabetes imitation models to evaluate health outcomes of blood glucose-related interventions with regard to quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) or life expectancy (LE) (Hua et al., 2017). Thus, a consistent relationship between HbA1c and QALYs or LE was found (Hua et al., 2017).

The practice focused question was Will the implementation of an evidence-based intervention, such as bi-weekly telephone calls by the advanced practice nurse, in addition to their standard treatment regimens, yield better glycemic control among adult Hispanics with Type 2 diabetes? A vital health outcome achieved from this project was that these Hispanic adult patients were able to better engage in self-care activities such as healthy eating, increase in physical activity, blood sugar monitoring, medication adherence, and reduction or elimination of risky behaviors. This was possible through ongoing education, intervention, and empowerment from their health care team (Shrivastava, & Ramasamy, 2013).

#### **Concepts, Models, and Theories**

#### **Self-Care Management in Diabetes**

The concept of self-care is very significant in Type 2 diabetes management. It emphasizes the importance of assuming responsibility for oneself as it is a daily, gradual, and individualized task (Shrivastava, Shrivastava, & Ramasamy, 2013). It also involves a great deal of autonomy in behavior and decision making. The association between diabetes self-care and glycemic control has been studied in the literature extensively and a good number of these articles focus on the routine health behaviors of patients (ADA, 2017). For example, the AADE (2014a) reported that self-care behaviors consist of a healthy diet, being fit and active, checking blood sugar levels, taking medications as prescribed, problem solving, reducing risks, and coping well, both physically and emotionally. It is essential that the patients have the competence for problem solving, as needed, so that they can prepare for the unexpected and plan to deal with similar issues in the future. Adhering to the above behaviors will aid in the reduction of health complications and increase life span of the diabetic patients.

Likewise, Schnell, Klausmann, Gutschek, Garcia-Verdugo, and Hummel (2017) demonstrated in a study that self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) leads to an improvement in metabolic control and diabetes management. The above observational study involved the analysis of diabetes self-management (DSM) and glycemic outcomes before and during a blood glucose meter system implementation in diabetic patients. The study comprised of 193 enrolled patients in which after 6 months, the patient's attitudes on self-care (Q16, p = .0046) and nutrition (p=.004) showed major improvements. Also, the implementation of the blood glucose meter led to better glycemic control, as demonstrated by mean HbA1c levels, which decreased from 8.68 at baseline to 8.13 after 3 months and to 7.9 at 6 months (Schnell et al., 2017).

Similarly, Nicoll et al. (2014) reported positive findings showing that there was a remarkable reduction in HbA1c, the standard barometer for measuring glycemic control, for all patients who completed diabetes self-management education (DSME) and received regular medical follow-up. From the 43 patients that were included in the evaluation, the mean HbA1c before DSME was 10.2 and after DSME was 7.8, which shows a 23.5% reduction. The duration of diabetes also played a significant factor in the study because patients with length of diabetes of less than 1 year had a considerably decrease in mean HbA1c (28.7%) than those with a duration of diabetes greater than 1 year (20.2%).

The effect of telephone intervention on glycemic control in patients with diabetes has also been evaluated. Suksomboon, Poolsup, and Nge (2014) reported that telephone intervention has potential benefit of improving glycemic control in diabetes, especially in less privileged societies. Similarly, Chamany et al. (2015) concluded in their research that telephone intervention carried out by health professionals is clinically efficient in improving glycemic control in diverse minority populations with diabetes. A randomized controlled trial study by Shahid, Mahar, Shaikh, and Shaikh (2015) also showed that the use of phone technology in rural areas was beneficial in reducing HbA1c levels through direct communication with the patients with diabetes. The above evidence has helped in supporting that the implementation of biweekly telephone calls at the study site led to the improvement of glycemic control in Hispanic adults with Type 2 diabetes.

Various evidence-based interventions have been successfully used in Type 2 diabetes management to yield better glycemic control. Such interventions include socioculturally appropriate ones, such as lifestyle behaviors and self-management diabetes education, and information technology-based interventions (Gucciardi, Wing-Sheung Chan, Manuel, and Sidani, 2013). For example, a literature search involving six health databases for randomized controlled trials and comparative studies conducted by Gucciardi et al. (2013) revealed success rates of intervention features based on efficiency in improving HbA1c, diet, or physical activity. From the 13 studies that were analyzed, 38 intervention features were identified in relation to their success with an outcome. There were four intervention features that had statistically major positive rate differences across outcomes: (a) hospital-based interventions, (b) group interventions, (c) use of situational problem-solving, and (d) incorporating dietitians as interventionists (Gucciardi et al., 2013). For example, using peer workers as interventionists and using the telephone as a medium of providing education had a positive rate difference of 50% for physical activity (Gucciardi et al., 2013). In addition, six intervention features had increased positive rate differences, greater than 50%, on specific outcomes (Gucciardi et al., 2013).

Likewise, Alharbi et al. (2016) aimed at evaluating the effect of information technology on changes in HbA1c levels and associating the interventions with the elements of the chronic care model (CCM) in a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials study. The study featured 1,082 articles and 32 trials, which highlighted about 40,454 patients (Alharbi et al., 2016). The results showed that interventions that focused on information technology resulted in a considerable decrease in HbA1c levels (mean difference -0.33%) while the studies aiming at electronic self-management systems revealed the biggest decrease in HbA1c (0.50%), followed by those with electronic medical records (0.17%), an electronic decision support system (0.15%), and a diabetes registry (0.05%) (Alharbi et al., 2016). Therefore, study findings revealed that interventions that are based on information technology and linked to CCM showed better HbA1c levels (Alharbi et al., 2016). The reduction in HbA1c levels consequently resulted in enhanced glycemic control in Type 2 diabetics (Alharbi et al., 2016). Therefore, Type 2 diabetes management requires a multifaceted approach to yield better health outcomes and this project implemented those strategies.

#### Glycemic Control in Hispanic Patients with Diabetes: Barriers and Solutions

According to Hu, Wallace, McCoy, and Amirehsani (2014) and Rotberg et al. (2016), the factors related to poor diabetes management and glycemic control include personal factors such as knowledge and attitude towards the disease, behavioral factors, such as self-efficacy and skills associated with diabetes management, and thirdly, environmental factors such as socioeconomic barriers. For example, Sami, Ansari, Butt, and Ab Hamid (2017) reported that the main factors responsible for the rapidly increasing incidence of diabetes are dietary habits and sedentary lifestyles. Thus, an improvement in elevated HbA1c levels can be attained through diet management and exercise activity in the effort to prevent diabetes complications. Making patients aware of the various diabetes complications through education and knowledge impaction of appropriate diets, attitudes, and practices will result in better control of the disease. Dietary intake intervention included making changes in food choices by decreasing fat intake and increasing vegetable, fruit and grain consumption (Sami et al., 2017). Hemmingsen et al. (2017) reported some study results that were done regarding the impact of diet and exercise on Type 2 diabetes. They analyzed eleven studies that compared diet and physical activity to just standard diabetes treatment. The study findings demonstrated that diet with physical activity reduced the risk of developing Type 2 diabetes in 315 of 2,122 participants (15%) in the diet and physical activity group when compared with 614 of 2,389 participants (26%) in the standard treatment group (Hemmingsen et al., 2017).

Furthermore, it has been observed that there are cultural ways of understanding and interpreting the interaction between dietary habits and risk for Type 2 diabetes especially in immigrants. It is essential that cultural and sociocultural factors that can influence the designing of culturally appropriate interventions aimed at addressing the risks for Type 2 diabetes are considered (Tshiswaka, Ibe- Lamberts, Mulunda, & Iwelunmor, 2017). Similarly, cultural influences play a huge role in risks and rate of Type 2 diabetes as some cultures consume certain types of food and avoid others. It was also observed that body mass index (BMI) and weight gain are considerably higher among people with low socioeconomic statuses compared to those of middle and high socioeconomic statuses. The same goes for educational level, it has been noted that people with low education levels tend to be obese compared to their counterparts of high educational levels (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [USDHHS], 2013). The above knowledge was beneficial to this project as the evidence-based intervention gave room for thorough analysis of the participants' situations and allowed them to voice their concerns.

In the effort to decrease the rate of Type 2 diabetes and provide a tight glycemic control in the adult Hispanic population, the home and neighborhood environments must also be taken into consideration. The availability of good food and its preparation, opportunities for physical activity, and most importantly family support are major influences on its reduction (Colberg et al., 2016). Also, an environment that has adequate safe parks would enhance physical activity, thereby decrease obesity (Colberg et al., 2016). There is a strong relationship between the above evidences and the purpose of this project because the collection and analysis of these evidences provided guidance on addressing the practice-focused question. The knowledge of the above evidences assisted the advance nurse practitioners who implemented the intervention in asking the project participants the right questions, proffer solutions, and provide meaningful patient education.

#### **Models and Theories**

The CCM by Wagner (1998) was used for the DNP project. The model was developed to care for patients who are chronically ill in primary care and is a multifaceted framework that focuses on population groups (Wagner, 1998). The model generates practical and evidence-based approaches to the management of chronic diseases (Wagner, 1998), which in this case is Type 2 diabetes. The CCM highlights the vital components of a health system that support efficient care of chronic diseases (Baptista et al., 2016). These components consist of the community, self- management support, the health system, delivery system design, decision support, and clinical information systems (Baptista et al., 2016). Baptista et al. (2016) assessed the impact of

the CCM on different clinical outcomes in a systematic review of 12 studies. Six of the 12 studies showed evidence of the usefulness of the CCM in the management of Type T2DM in primary care in addition to major enhancements in clinical outcomes. There were also suggestions that more benefits could be achieved when all six elements of CCM are combined and used. Likewise, Stellefson, Dipnarine, and Stopka (2013) conducted a literature review of 16 studies which included nine randomized controlled trials, in varied settings and demonstrated that CCM methods have been efficient in the management of diabetes in primary care settings in the United States. Using this model, the goal was to establish a culture and organization that encourage safe and high-quality care among these chronically ill patients which empowered them, and aided performance of self-care activities related to their diabetes (AADE, 2014a; Baptista et al., 2016; Stellefson et al., 2013). Therefore, in order to achieve a good glycemic control in the Type 2 diabetic patients using this model, there was a considerable amount of education, supportive communication, and collaboration between the patients and the health care team throughout the course of the project. The health care team comprised of a registered dietician/nutritionist, health care professionals, and specialists whose unique roles contributed to improved glycemic control and better health outcomes.

#### **Relevance to Nursing Practice**

My DNP project is very significant to nursing practice because Type 2 diabetes is a public health problem as it affects millions of people in the U.S. T2DM is a major chronic disease with high prevalence in various patient populations. Preventing the disease and managing it well in those already afflicted by it is essential. The development and implementation of planned evidence-based approaches have been demonstrated to improve glycemic control and prevent complications in the affected patient population (Alharbi et al., 2016; Hu et al., 2014). With this type of evidence-based intervention in place, Type 2 diabetes Hispanic adult patients learnt to be accountable for their health, embraced healthy behaviors such as food choices and exercise, engaged in self-care activities like self-blood glucose monitoring, and started going to their clinic appointments as scheduled.

Nurse practitioners have a responsibility to assess for any barriers to care, so that both providers and patients can deliberate on feasible solutions that will enhance health outcomes. For example, according to Garcia et al. (2016), some patients have lower socioeconomic status than others, in terms of financial status and educational levels, which may impact daily glucose monitoring (that is, securing and learning how to use the glucometer). Some of them may not have means of transportation to go to their appointments and some may be shy to acknowledge to their providers that they could not understand education provided to them regarding their diseases. Cultural differences and financial status may also impact patients' ability to buy fresh food and may result in an over reliance on fast food, or other dietary patterns that are not conducive to lowered HbA1c levels (Hu, Amirehsani, Wallace, & Letvak, 2013). The above barriers were assessed and analyzed with the targeted patients at the project site, and solutions were proffered which included offering some of these patients' taxi vouchers or bus passes to get to their appointments and having a Spanish translator available during the coaching sessions and during their appointments, even though it appeared all the patient

participants understood English. All the above strategies were utilized in an effort to promote better quality of life and health outcomes, reduce health associated costs, and reduce mortality and morbidity rates (Nuti, et al., 2015). This project also contributed to positive social change because various social issues facing the Hispanic population such as SES, health care inequality, and so on were addressed, which then contributed to better disease management and glycemic control improvement (Manders et al, 2016).

#### Local Background and Context

The clinic chosen for this doctoral project is located in a prominent urban area in California. The geographical area where the clinic is located has a longstanding reputation for high unemployment, poverty and crime rates, but these have plummeted over the years. It is significant to mention the above because of the types of patients seen in the clinic. Most are poor and lack education. Also, an advantage to the community and clinic is that the physician-owner and majority of the staff are bilingual. This attribute draws in a high number of Hispanic patients who live in the surrounding area to the clinic for medical care.

With regards to the intervention, during the bi-weekly telephone calls, the coaching sessions assisted in guiding the patients to take accountability for their self-care and increase adherence to the treatment regimen. With the intervention in place, there was great expectation that the channel of communication and trust will be open for the patients to freely discuss areas of concern or interest with the advanced practice nurse. Reported fasting blood glucose (FBG) recorded with each telephone intervention and HbA1c results, when appropriate, were used as the outcome measures and so that trends

could be examined and medication modifications, diagnostic testing, and appropriate referrals could be carried out by the provider as needed. With regards to HbA1c results, they served as an efficient outcome measure for Type 2 diabetes, but because of the time frame of the project, it was not as beneficial as the FBG results. However, it was interesting to see if the measure of patient-report FBG varied with HbA1c as any time one relies on human participants for quantitative data, it is a potential problem and may lead to data collection limitations.

The goal was to see a downward trend of FBG post-intervention. The results were compared to pre-intervention data. Along with the phone call intervention, the participants received advanced coaching by the advanced practice nurse on the most recent ADA standards of care. The causes, needs, and strategies required to manage Type 2 diabetes and improve glycemic control in this patient population were examined. An institutional priority for Type 2 diabetes management is to provide high quality of care to these chronic disease patients in order to improve their health outcomes. According to the ADA (2016), there are certain interventions that improve quality of diabetes care in any health care setting, which leads to improved glycemic control, and they are: (a) utilizing evidence-based guidelines to guide care, (b) increasing the role of teams to establish more comprehensive disease management strategies, and (c) providing patient-centered care.

When addressing glycemic control in this patient population, locally used terms to address the issue were non-compliance, patient nonadherence to treatment, and health disparities. Health disparities in society have led to inequality and differences in quality of care received and health outcomes of lower-class patients when compared to higher class patients (Arpey, Gaglioti, and Rosenbaum, 2017). In most communities where there are high Hispanic population rates, there are lack of resources or amenities for health living. As mentioned above, there is a high population of Hispanics in the particular community where the project site is located. Therefore, this project was a very beneficial one that made significant impact on the health outcomes and quality of lives of the patients.

#### **Role of the DNP Student**

As the DNP project manager, I utilized evidence-based research articles to gather information regarding the target population; social and economic factors, cultural habits and beliefs regarding this health issue. In this DNP project, which uses a Quality Improvement (QI) approach, I analyzed trends and gaps apparent in the health care literature and used specific strategies and interventions suitable to address this health issue. The solutions employed addressed the cultural expectations of the patient population, without bias or prejudice, in order to yield positive outcomes that have the potential for sustainability.

As project leader for the QI intervention, I oversaw the development of the documentation template, and guides for coaching sessions. The NPs at the site were primarily responsible for implementing this evidenced-based intervention at the private family practice clinic. My primary role in the project was to conduct secondary analyses of de-identified data in order to evaluate the effect of the QI intervention on patient outcomes, specifically SBGM fasting values and HbA1c levels which, taken together, represent glycemic control. The motivation for this doctoral project was that it will

contribute positively and impact the health outcomes of the patients seen in the clinic. As stated before, a significant amount of the patients seen in the clinic are Hispanics and this suits the project well. The potential bias I had in mind, which could have negatively affected this project, was observer bias due to the prior knowledge and subjective feelings that the NPs have about the targeted patient population. Also, for the participants, subject/participant bias could have been an issue, this is a tendency of the patients to act or answer questions a certain way in order to favor the project (Smith & Noble, 2014). I addressed observer bias by setting clear rules and procedures for the advanced practice nurse practitioners (APRN/NPs) involved in the project and cautioned them to avoid any prejudices. Subject or participant bias can affect the validity of a project. Therefore, I addressed this issue with the NPs by discussing how to gain the trust of the participants, encouraging them to let the patients know that there are no right or wrong answers, and that patients should feel free to disclose any information that is necessary to improve their health outcomes.

#### **Role of the Project Team**

Collaboration with other disciplines, professions, and the community may be beneficial to be successful and improve the population's health outcomes (CDC, 2017a). As previously stated, the project was an existing QI initiative at the site. Accordingly, the team comprised of a registered dietician provided medical nutrition therapy and nutrition guidance for the patients, a social worker who assisted the patients in solving and coping with problems in their everyday lives, the two APRN/NPs who carried out the project, clinic staff who assisted in coordinating medical records, and the physician and/or specialist who were available for medical consultation and treatment plans as necessary. Other members of the team included a pharmacist, podiatrist, ophthalmologist, and nephrologist for needed referrals (CDC, 2016). As project manager, I led weekly project team meetings with the APRN/NPs who provided feedback on project progress and any technical obstacles related to appointments, documentation in the EHR, access to patients in between scheduled phone calls for blood draws, needed referrals to other members of the project team and other patient requests as needed.

#### Summary

There are multidimensional issues related to Type 2 diabetes which require multiple interventions to address effectively. Apart from implementing bi-weekly phone calls intervention in a clinic or outpatient setting, it is important that at the state and national levels, there are also interventions in place to curb obesity and diabetes in adults especially among the Hispanic adult population. According to Rotberg, Greene, Ferez-Pinzon, Mejia, and Umpierrez (2016), there should be more efficient outreach programs, nutrition education programs, and availability of funds to carry out specific projects which would be tailored to specific groups of people in the community. Adequate and safe parks in every community for recreation and physical activity purposes are beneficial in improving health outcomes. Also, adult education and health programs that are free or low cost are beneficial. Finally, funded higher education programs for health care professionals who work directly with these populations should be readily available to them in order to enhance their patient care skills and improve health outcomes (Rotberg et al., 2016). With analyses of data, this doctoral project hopefully brought to light the above issues and the various solutions and interventions that will help in improving the patient population's quality of life and health outcomes.

Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

#### Introduction

There is overwhelming support in the literature to emphasize the use of evidencebased interventions to improve glycemic control in the diabetic population. Complications from poor glycemic control tend to affect the whole body because major organs and systems are affected (Nuti et al., 2015). Also, several studies have shown that physical activity and dietary changes lower Type 2 diabetes risks and that a combination of both demonstrate better achievements than the implementation of one alone (Sami et al., 2017; Tshiswaka et al., 2017). The biweekly phone calls, as an evidence-based intervention, covered the above topics during the coaching provided by the advanced practice nurse. The benefits of this DNP project are numerous. First, it provided an insight into the lives, beliefs, and health habits of the Hispanic population. Secondly, it was used to determine what the needs of these patients are, in order to adequately assist them to improve glycemic control in their diabetes management.

#### **Practice-Focused Question**

Among adult Hispanics with Type 2 diabetes, will the implementation of an evidence-based QI intervention, such as biweekly telephone interventions/calls by the advanced practice nurse, in addition to their standard treatment regimens, yield better glycemic control? This question is necessary to ascertain the efficacy of evidence-based interventions in improving the glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic adults. An evidenced-based intervention such as biweekly telephone calls to this patient population along with their standard treatment plan further aided in the reduction of fasting blood sugar and
HbA1c levels, and on the long run, decrease comorbidities, hospital readmission rates, healthcare costs and improve patient's quality of lives and health outcomes (Chamany et al., 2015).

## **Sources of Evidence**

## **Published Outcomes and Research**

The sources of evidence for this project were from electronic databases such as CINAHL Plus with Full Text, CINAHL & Medline Simultaneous search, PubMed, and ProQuest Nursing & Allied Health Source. Professional organizations like the ADA were also beneficial as well as diabetes handbooks. Studies from literature showed that numerous factors play a role in one's predisposition to a chronic disease, such as Type 2 diabetes. According to Hu et al. (2013), some of these factors include genetics, diet, lifestyle, culture, values or beliefs, educational, and income levels among many others. Lack of diabetes education and knowledge deficit also contributes to the poor management of Type 2 diabetes and poor glycemic control (Hu et al., 2013). Sami et al. (2017) also reported that Type 2 diabetic patients need support and continued reinforcement of diabetes education which comprises of dietary support by various stakeholders such as health care professionals and health facilities. This is important so that these patients will be able to understand the disease and its management better, feel supported in their self- care activities, which then enhance their health outcomes and quality of life. Proper diabetes education and dietary management will also reduce various health complications involving body organs such as the eyes, kidneys, and heart (Sami et al., 2017). Hu et al. (2013) then concluded that there are perceived hindrances to

diabetes self-management in the Hispanic population which need to be addressed. These barriers center on culture, support from family, and self-management skills education (Hu et al., 2013). Therefore, resources and interventions that address the above were addressed during the project, in order to yield better health outcomes in this patient population.

In addition to the various research studies discussed earlier that supported this project, a literature review was carried out in which other research study articles were compiled and analyzed using a matrix template (see Appendix A), and they are also used to support the use of evidence-based interventions to improve glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic patients in a variety of health care settings. These sources of evidence were retrieved from electronic databases such as CINAHL Plus with Full Text, CINAHL & Medline Simultaneous search, PubMed, and ProQuest Nursing & Allied Health Source. The key words and phrases that were searched for include *adult, Hispanic, evidence-based, interventions, adult Hispanics, evidence-based intervention, telephonic interventions Type 2 diabetes* and *phone call intervention.* Also, information from professional organizations such as the ADA and AADE was used.

#### **Archival and Operational Data**

All data, both qualitative and quantitative, were secured from the EHR, downloaded and de-identified for secondary analyses. This includes HbA1c results which were secured at the beginning of the 12-week period and again at the end. Daily blood sugar reports were also self-reported by the patients and the SBGM fasting results on the day of the biweekly phone call were recorded in the EHR, as patient reported. The biweekly phone calls were also guided by a documentation template in the EHR and included both a checklist of needed items for discussion as well as narratives highlighting barriers and facilitators. These data were downloaded into an Excel file, and de-identified for secondary data analyses. Permission and consent to gain access to operational data, as needed, was received from my preceptor who is also the physician and owner of the family practice clinic. Patient charts/EHR were used as one of the major data sources due to their reputability as solid legal documents in health care (see Accordino, Kopple-Perry, Gligorov, & Krieger, 2014).

## **Evidence Generated for the Doctoral Project**

**Participants.** The ideal participants for the quality improvement intervention included those who had a basic understanding of English, could read and write, those who were able to perform self-blood glucose monitoring on a daily basis as instructed, as well as those agreeable to engage in telephonic calls with the APRN/NPs on a biweekly basis. Language translators were used for those who needed the service in the effort to generate accurate data. Patients with mental health disorders or cognitive impairment, acutely ill or with limited life expectancy, without glucometers, and those pregnant were excluded from the project. Also, new patients were not chosen for this DNP project. The intervention was carried out over a 12-week period on a convenience, random sampling of patients (n=50), ages 18-65.

**Procedures.** To start the project, there were initial face-to-face meetings with the patients in the family practice clinic, then biweekly follow-up telephone calls carried out at mutually determined times. Data were collected through chart reviews, personal

telephone interviews, and use of questionnaires. These questionnaires were comprised of questions that were used before, during and after the coaching sessions. There were 10 questions geared toward the knowledge of self-care management and 10 other questions geared toward daily practices, both related to Type 2 diabetes (see Appendix B). The coaching sessions were done every 2 weeks, during the biweekly calls, for the duration of the project and focused on diet education, exercise education, and lifestyle changes. The telephone calls and questionnaires covered self-care actions like blood glucose selfmonitoring to determine FBG results, medication compliance, education on diet, exercise, weight control and other factors serving as hindrances to better glycemic control. During the initial meetings, the patients were provided the food and blood glucose logs (see Appendix C) to document their daily dietary intake with specific measurements e.g. 1 cup of pasta, 2 medium sized flour tortilla etc., the amount of daily exercise in minutes, and their blood glucose results. These logs were then reviewed on the phone and each time they came to the clinic for their follow up appointments. Their glucometers were also checked during their clinic appointments to verify accuracy of data collected on the phone.

**Protections.** The protection of human subjects was necessary due to the nature of this project as it involves human participants. It was necessary to gain approval from Walden University IRB to be able to proceed with the project. Accordingly, the Walden IRB blanket manual for an existing quality improvement (QI) project, was followed diligently. As a DNP student who utilized the project site for practicum as well, coaching and documentation were routinely part of the activities being carried out during

practicum hours. I was responsible for securing de-identified data and performing secondary analyses on these de-identified data to evaluate the project. Also, as the site is a standalone small private clinic, not affiliated with any health system or hospital, permission was obtained directly from the provider who owns the practice. Furthermore, as the DNP student, who is also an advanced practice nurse, I led the project by abiding by the set protocols and guidelines for practice when interacting and dealing with other staff at the site who cared for the patients. I worked directly alongside the APRN/NPs who gathered the necessary data for the project and consulted with the physician/my preceptor when needed. I provided guidance and supervised the APRN/NPs regularly to make sure they were following the plan and meeting the objectives of the project. To further maintain confidentiality and protect the rights of the participants, unique pseudo initials were utilized during the project to identify the participants and all data collected were kept safe in a secured electronic database, accessible only by authorized staff at the site. Informed consent was received from the participants easily. The informed consent forms were handed out during the participants' selection and briefing process, at the beginning of the 12-week project period.

I sought approval from the Institutional Review Board at Walden to perform secondary data analysis from a de-identified dataset provided to me from the clinics' EHR following the Walden IRB Quality Improvement manual. According to Polit and Beck (2012), the IRB carries out an external review of the ethical aspects of a study. Voluntary participation and the right to withdraw at any time, without any consequence, was stressed to the participants. During the face to face meetings during the project period, the participants were made comfortable and relaxed in a private room in the clinic. Although, the use of a natural setting, such as a patient's home, is preferable to do the initial face to face interviews so that the participants are relaxed and at ease, this posed some ethical issues as there were concerns of invasion of privacy (Hämäläinen & Rautio, 2013). There were further concerns that the participants may not have provided accurate answers to the APRN/NPs' questions for fear of being labeled or the plain fact that they were uncomfortable with the project or felt the need to want to please the APRN/NP. The above may lead to inaccurate analysis of data, which will serve as a limitation of the project.

## **Analysis and Synthesis**

The project served the purpose of demonstrating that an evidence-based intervention which consists of bi-weekly phone calls and coaching to Hispanic adult patients with Type 2 diabetes will yield improved glycemic control. It was expected that at the end of the project, there will be reduced fasting blood sugars levels as well as HbA1c levels when compared to pre-intervention data that will be statistically significantly reduced using inferential statistics, to be determined after a review of the data for final sample size and normality. Also, the project team assisted in promoting healthier eating habits and exercise activities with the hope of prolonging the participant's life spans and improving their health outcomes. The interviews and telephone calls focused on self –care activities like self-monitoring of blood glucose, medication compliance, education on diet and physical activity, and factors that serve as barriers and facilitators to achieving better glycemic control. Narrative data from the EHR were downloaded, and de-identified, and qualitative methods were utilized to extract themes from this documentation. These above methods helped provide in-depth answers to the practice- focused question and also revealed how Hispanics feel about their health and health promoting behaviors. The various limitations and barriers that predispose them to the disease were addressed as well.

## Summary

According to the above evidences and the project outcome, improved glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adults is important as it will allow these patients lead functional lives in the society and promote positive change without the added burden of disease (USDHHS, 2013). Similarly, solving this issue will enable the public health sector to direct interventions and resources to the right places so that the Hispanics can live equally good and healthy lives along with other ethnicities. Finally, one social impact of the project will be the development of certain health policies that will enable minorities have better and easier access to health care services. This will allow them to seek preventive and treatment services on time, and reduce the risks for developing chronic diseases and various comorbidities. Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

## Introduction

The local nursing practice problem which was the main emphasis of this doctoral project was poor glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes. This practice problem is significant to nursing and health care and to the health of individuals, families, and communities. The purpose of the QI project was to improve glycemic control in Hispanic adults with Type 2 diabetes in a family practice clinic through the implementation of biweekly phone calls to the patients in addition to their standard treatment. The gap in practice at this private clinic was that there was lack of attention to the detail of patient care management because when patients missed their clinic appointments, there was little or no follow up which led to high blood sugar and HbA1C levels, as well as poor or nonexistent self-care activities and lifestyle modifications. According to Gray, Grove, and Sutherland (2017), the focused statement or question in a project is important when considering the significance and relevance of a study's problem and purpose. Thus, the guiding practice focused question for this project was: Will the implementation of an evidence-based QI intervention, such as biweekly telephone calls by the advanced practice nurse, in addition to their standard treatment regimens, yield better glycemic control among adult Hispanics with Type 2 diabetes? The purpose of this project was to evaluate the effect of an evidence-based intervention, such as the implementation of biweekly phone calls, on glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adult patients.

I used the literature as a key source of evidence for this scholarly project. The literature review included peer-reviewed scholarly journal articles that were published in

English language only, were in full text, and published in the last 5 years. These articles were AACN level of Evidence B because they are well designed controlled studies with results that consistently supported the various evidence-based interventions utilized to achieve improved glycemic control (Armola et al., 2009).

The biweekly phone calls composed of coaching sessions on self-care activities, medication compliance, and diabetes education including lifestyle changes, diet, and exercise. Diabetes knowledge was evaluated based on years of Type 2 diabetes diagnosis. The evaluation of the self-care management, diabetes knowledge, and daily practices related to the disease, before and after receiving the intervention, was conducted using a set of questions before, during, and throughout the 12-week project. I used the most recent ADA standards of diabetes care to design the coaching sessions, and the APRN/NPs used teach back method (Ha Dinh, Bonner, Clark, Ramsbotham, & Hines, 2016) in assessing adequate understanding of the education provided. The SBGM results were documented on food and blood glucose logs provided to the patient participants at the beginning of the project and these were reviewed during the biweekly telephone calls including daily dietary intake with precise measurements and the amount of daily exercise in minutes. I then conducted secondary analyses of de-identified data in order to assess the effect of the QI intervention on SBGM fasting values and HbA1c levels with narrative data from the EHR downloaded into a secure Excel file, de-identified, and qualitative methods used to extract themes from this documentation. The combination of the above methods and approaches were very effective in the success of this project.

#### **Findings and Implications**

The expectation at the end of the 12-week project was to see reduced SBGM fasting levels as well as HbA1c levels when compared to baseline data and secondly, to also see increased diabetes knowledge, self- care activities, healthier eating habits, and exercise activities as evidenced by effective return demonstrations and teach-back, higher scores on the posttest questionnaires, and accurate documentation in food and blood glucose logs.

The project participants had an average age of 43.7 years, education of 8 years, BMI of 30.3, and were primarily female, 69%. It was important to know the duration of diabetes diagnosis for these patients. Of the participants, there were six who were diagnosed more than 10 years ago and demonstrated being quite skillful in self-care activities like SBGM and with having more than adequate knowledge of diabetes. However, they admitted that they could benefit from a refresher coaching session and that they stopped performing SBGM as regularly as they should. There were 27 participants who were diagnosed with T2DM less than 5 years ago and reported they were still struggling with accepting the diagnosis and trying to live healthier lives, while 17 were diagnosed between 5 and 10 years.

Results were documented based on baseline data, midpoint (6 weeks) data, and endpoint (12 weeks) data for SBGM fasting levels, baseline data and endpoint data (12 weeks) for HbA1c, journaling/diet, exercise activities and amounts done weekly, number of successful calls that were made to the participants, and number of documented SBGM fasting results during the project period. Baseline HbA1c data was based on the participants most recent test results and ranged from 6.4% to 13.4%; 36% had an HbA1c level between 7% and 8% (moderate glucose control); and 46% had HbA1c > 8% (poor glucose control), while the rest had levels < 7% (good glucose control).

Most of the patients were compliant with the program. The number of calls varied, but most participants completed five to six calls. For journaling and exercise, most participants completed three to four times a week, and majority of the participants completed and documented over 60 out of 84 of the requested SBGM fasting values. This implies that the coaching sessions were beneficial in improving DSM, see Table 1.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics on Compliance with the Coaching Program

Number of	# of SBGM	# of Successful	Journaling 1-7	Exercise 1-7	
patients	fasting levels 0-	Calls 0-6	times a week	times a week	
1-50 in 84					
parenthesis					
	(0) 0-20	(0) 0-2	(12) 0-2	(14) 0-2	
	(0) 21-40	(24) 3-4	(27) 3-4	(24) 3-4	
	(12) 41-60	(26) 5-6	(11) 5-7	(12) 5-7	
	(38) 61-84				

In terms of SBGM fasting values, there was more drastic change in the values between the baseline, midpoint, and endpoint as opposed to the A1C which had minor but statistically significant change from the baseline to the endpoint. At baseline, the minimum self-reported fasting blood glucose level for all 50 participants was 108, while the maximum was 303; at midpoint, the minimum decreased to 94 and maximum to 264; and at endpoint, the minimum decreased to 89, while the maximum decreased to 200. Thus, the project was successful because the endpoint SBGM fasting values of all the

participants were much closer to the expected normal values when compared to the baseline values. Using the 95% confidence interval for mean, the value of the upper bound baseline SBGM fasting value at 167.89 and the upper bound endpoint SBGM fasting value at 148.16, the total difference is 19.73 which is a significant amount of change in 12 weeks. Likewise, looking at the mean in SBGM fasting values from baseline, midpoint, to endpoint, there were significant decreases from 159.78 to 152.00 to 142.26. The endpoint SBGM fasting values distribution was checked for normality and once again, the assumption for use of a parametric test was violated (Shapiro-Wilk .95, df =47, p=.042). The non-parametric Friedman test was used to test the differences in means using a repeated measures approach ( $x^2=87.239$ , df=2, p=.000). The difference in SBGM fasting values across the three timeframes is larger than that of A1C even though there were positive results for both aspects. There are some considerations. Although the HbA1c tests were performed in a laboratory setting, the SBGM results were self-reported by patients based on home testing. So, there could be some inaccuracies, and this is a limitation of the project. Also, the HbA1c test measured glycated hemoglobin which reflects an individual's blood sugar over time, so the full results of the impact of the patient testing may not be yet realized.

Of the 50 patients who participated in the project, three did not complete an HbA1c at 12 weeks due to work and travel related reasons and were removed from the results. All three of these patients had elevated levels at baseline at 7.8, 9.1, and 11.2. Coincidentally, the 7.8 and 11.2 results were documented in two 31-year olds, which are considered abnormally high HbA1c levels. Of the remaining 47 patients in the sample,

four had the same HbA1c score at baseline and 12 weeks later. Three patients had a slight elevation in HbA1c from 7.20 to 7.50, 7.80 to 7.90, and 9.40 to 9.60, respectively. In total, there were 40 patients whose HbA1c improved over the 12-week period. The average HbA1c score at baseline of these 47 patients was 8.524 with a standard deviation of 1.635. The mean score at endpoint was 8.208 with a standard deviation of 1.52. Since the distribution of HbA1c values at the end of the 12-week program was not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk= .911, df=47 and p=.002), nonparametric tests were used to determine significance in the change from baseline to the endpoint. A Wilcoxon Signed Ranks test showed significance, indicating that the change in average score from baseline to endpoint is not related to chance, and would likely occur with another sample (z=-5.170, p=.000). Although the value is still not as low as desirable (less than 7% for patients under 65, less than 8% for patients 65 and older), it is going in the correct direction. As HbA1c is a composite measure of blood sugar levels over a three to 6month period (ADA, 2018a), and while these values are still in the abnormal range, the full impact of the 12-week coaching period may not be evidenced as yet in the baseline to endpoint comparison.

Since most patients did not actually move from poor control to moderate or good control, but 40 patients' HbA1c moved in the correct direction, these slight improvements in values, as indicated above, shows patients' progress towards better DSM, see Table 2. Control is defined in three categories: poor control is evidenced by an HbA1c level greater than 8%, moderate control is deemed as an HbA1c level of between 7 and 8% while good control is defined as an HbA1c level of less than 7%.

## Table 2

Number of Patients	Baseline A1c	Endpoint A1c
7	Good Control	Good Control
15	Moderate Control	Moderate Control
18	Poor Control	Poor Control

Diabetic Patients' HbA1c Control from Baseline to Endpoint

40 Total

In addition, some questions were asked of the participants before and after receiving T2DM education and coaching on diet, exercise, and self-care activities. Evaluation was done based on questions related to self-care management and daily practices. Therefore, while analyzing the diet logs of the participants as well as during the interactions with the participants, it was noted that of the 20 combined self-care management and daily practice behaviors/knowledge evaluated, there was significant improvement in areas such as food options and self-care activities while there was a trend for improvement in medication adherence, follow-up with appointments, and exercise. The behaviors that improved in patients' qualitative self-report included following a healthy/diabetic diet, eating five or more servings of fruits and vegetables, reducing carbohydrates, and performing self-blood glucose monitoring. The participants that showed motivation to change, but were still struggling with their diet, were referred to a nutritionist for additional follow-up. The most common responses of participants that had issues with self-care activities included the following "I work long hours every day"; "I can only afford one full meal a day", "I do not have time to cook every day"; "I don't

have money to buy food, fresh fruits and vegetables every time"; "I don't have transportation to go to my appointments"; "I have to buy food outside due to my work schedule" (See Appendix D).

To address the above issues, these participants were linked with/referred to Cal Fresh and also the free transportation service for Medicare patients. In addition, the front desk staff were advised to make follow-up appointments for the patients on their way out of the clinic in order to decrease the chances of them not calling back to schedule their follow-up appointments. Also, they were advised to always verify the correct phone numbers of the patients and call them at least 3 days prior to their appointment date to remind them and address any potential issue that might cause problems in keeping their appointment. The primary care provider was also able to get some bus passes and taxi vouchers from a hospital where he consults. This was a great benefit to the project because it improved the follow- up compliance rates.

Surprisingly, most of the participants who were initially non-compliant with their treatment plans and follow-ups have a specific health insurance plan. During the implementation of the project, two physician representatives of the plan came to discuss a project they were working on with the primary care physician at the project site to improve patient compliance rates. They had the demographics and medical records such as HbA1c results of 8 out of the 50 patients in our pilot and plan to follow up with them individually or as a group to discuss barriers to care and plan interventions beyond the 12-week DNP project. They offered some gift cards as incentives for the patients to come

in for their clinic appointments and blood work, which also served as motivation for some of the participants.

Multiple phone call attempts were made to many of the participants for coaching purposes. The persistence on the part of the two APRN/RNs made it possible for the project to be successful. Overall, the coaching sessions enhanced numerous aspects of the diabetes self-management activities as well as increased diabetes knowledge, which led to improved HbA1c levels in majority of the participants. More than half of the participants admitted that the intervention and coaching have made them more aware and knowledgeable about SBGM and HbA1c testing and their importance in DSM. Consequently, the above outcomes have been beneficial in the achievement of positive social change in this patient population.

#### Recommendations

The results of this quality improvement DNP scholarly project demonstrated that implementing an evidence-based telephonic intervention that focuses on diet, exercise, self-care activities coaching, and assessment of barriers to care improves glycemic control (SBGM, especially fasting levels and HbA1c) in the Hispanic adult patients with Type 2 diabetes. This project also identified and addressed the gaps in practice related to T2DM. In terms of non-compliance with clinic appointments, It was recommended that non-compliant diabetes patients that need to be seen monthly or every 3 months in the clinic, based on their clinical situation and treatment plan, should not be allowed to call for their medication refills on the phone unless they show up for their follow-up appointments. Also, since there are other factors that may contribute to medication refill

rates, many of these patients will have to come to the clinic by all means possible to get their refills as well as see the provider for their diabetes follow-up appointments. In addition. I recommended that the front desk staff should endeavor to make follow-up appointments for the patients on their way out of the clinic instead of relying on them to call back to make their appointments. Also, they should always verify the correct phone numbers of the patients and call them at least 3 days prior to their appointment date to remind them and address any potential issue that might not let them show up. Nuti et al. (2015) report that a simple phone call and/or letter reminder of appointment date and time or for scheduling can have a positive impact on the clinical and behavioral outcomes of diabetic patients. Likewise, it is noted that multifaceted interventions aimed at appointment management and preparation during various stages of the medical outpatient care process enhances DSM (Nuti et al., 2015). Finally, the CDC (2018) stated that the use of alcohol and tobacco can make diabetes and its complications worse, which lead to poor health outcomes. Therefore, I recommended that at every clinic visit, lifestyle behaviors such as smoking and alcohol use need to be addressed with the patients with the intention to provide cessation education and appropriate referrals.

## **Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team**

The team members participating in this doctoral project were phenomenal. They all went above and beyond expectation because they have been working hard in addressing poor glycemic control in Type 2 diabetics in the clinic over the last few years. They provided enormous support whenever needed to make sure data collection and getting in touch with the participants were easier for the APRN/NPs. A registered dietician was consulted when there was need for medical nutrition therapy and nutrition guidance for some of the patients. There were also referrals to a social worker who assisted the patients in solving and coping with problems in their everyday lives. In addition, the clinic staff were available and eager to assist in coordinating medical records, while the primary care physician was available for medical consultation and treatment plans as needed. Other referrals to specialists' like endocrinologist, nephrologist, ophthalmologist, podiatrist, and cardiologist were done based on each participant's health need and clinical picture. The team as a whole were all very unique and significant to the success of this project. According to McGill et al. (2016), an interdisciplinary team in diabetes care contributes to improvements in treatment outcomes for patients; therefore, it is essential to ensure access to such team, when necessary.

There are plans to extend this project beyond the DNP doctoral project because it is very significant to nursing practice and patient outcomes. Most, if not all, practices experience the issue of poor glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes and it would be a great benefit to share this intervention with other primary care clinics and other settings to improve health outcomes and quality of life for these patients.

#### **Strength and Limitation of the Project**

The strengths of this QI project are several. As stated earlier, the project team made a huge impact in the success of the project. Another strength of the project was that I, the DNP student and project leader, as well as the APRN/NPs developed a good relationship with the long-term patients at the clinic. I believe this helped in the higher

than expected compliance rates. Another strength of the project was that it lasted for 12 weeks which allowed for adequate SBGM and HbA1c testing. HbA1c is referred to the gold standard test in diabetes care or the primary test used for diabetes management as it provides information about a person's average levels of blood glucose over the past 3 months (ADA, 2018a).

A limitation of the project was the self-reported blood glucose data and inability to limit extraneous variables such as glucometer malfunction. Even though the project team tried to correlate the self-reported data with the actual glucometer readings when the participants came to clinic, we could not guarantee that the results were actually accurate because the times of record were different for everyone and also because the testing was done in the comfort of the participants' homes in the absence of the project team. Although the participants were provided with instruction on what indicated fasting blood glucose levels and instructed to not eat or drink anything but water for eight hours before the test, we could not control this. Despite these limitations, the results of the project were clinically significant. Another important point to note was that a confounding variable may be the 8 patients that were included in the project of the specific health plan that the provider representatives were doing due to the incentives that were provided that served as extra motivation.

As diabetes is well known as a cardiovascular risk factor and majority of patients do have comorbidities, the recommendations for future projects addressing similar topics and using similar methods include concurrent screenings and monitoring of blood pressure to identify or manage patients with hypertension by offering treatment involving medications especially the use of an angiotensin II receptor blocker (ARBS)/ angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitor (ACEI) to protect the kidneys; as well as dyslipidemia screening and monitoring of lipid levels in order to achieve target goals with possible treatment with statins; and thirdly, the use of aspirin therapy as recommended for primary and secondary prevention for patients with increased risk of or history of cardiovascular disease (ADA, 2018b). Even though intensive biweekly coaching is in place for some patients at the clinic, it is not consistently done across all chronic illness types which represents another gap in practice. Therefore, it is essential to make sure that when treating a chronic disease, such as Type 2 diabetes, the coaching plan is in place for the patients.

#### Summary

Although this was a short-term project, there were some improvement observed in glycemic control and diabetes self-management after the intervention. The project did demonstrate that an evidence-based intervention which comprised of bi-weekly phone calls and coaching sessions by APRN/NPs to T2DM Hispanic patients improved their SBGM fasting and HbA1c values as well as their knowledge of diabetes, DSM, and expected daily practices. The midpoint and endpoint SBGM fasting values showed better improvement compared to baseline values than the baseline and endpoint HbA1c values. Most certainly, if the project had been carried out for several months, there would have been significant improvements observed in all aspects. Despite this, this was a dynamic project that is worth implementing in other primary care and outpatient settings as part of the TDM treatment plan.

#### Section 5: Dissemination Plan

I plan to discuss the overall results of this QI project with the primary care physician (PCP) who is the owner of the clinic, the office manager, other providers, and staff at the site. Also, in order to bridge the gaps in practice, a review of the recommendations is valuable. The clinic providers need to be made aware of the impact of the project intervention and results which have shown to improve health outcomes. This will motivate them to continue this intervention or something similar with all their chronic disease patients.

Based on the nature of this project, it will be beneficial to disseminate the project findings to other primary care clinics in the area and other sites where the PCP has privileges to practice. The PCP meets on a regular basis with other PCPs in the environs for meetings and conferences, so this would be an avenue to share the results of this QI project in the effort to improve health outcomes of chronic disease patients in similar settings. Unfortunately, the project site is not directly affiliated with any health system that could benefit from this doctoral project; however, it will be suitable to share the results of this doctoral project results with a local specialty clinic to improve glycemic control in gestational diabetes. I would be able to provide needed education to this clinic or any others on as needed basis.

Furthermore, as a member of both the American Nurses Association (ANA) and California Association for Nurse Practitioners (CANP), this is a great opportunity for me to showcase my work to these professional organizations, in the effort to improve health outcomes. I have been seeking information about the process of submitting this project to these organizations for a poster or podium presentation, as well as to an APN/NP journal. I am also very excited because I recently found out through my current work manager that I may have an opportunity to share my project more broadly in the company as the main focus is health promotion and chronic disease prevention in the adult population. Also, there has always been a great push and support given to nurse practitioners to advance their degrees to the doctoral level.

## **Analysis of Self**

This QI doctoral project has been a momentous experience for me. Due to the high level of expertise I possess as a doctoral student and the fact that a holistic approach to care is a huge part of our nursing training, the interventions and methods used in the project were based on greater depth and breadth of knowledge with the capability to synthesize physiological, psychological, social, and environmental data. This project has enabled me to focus on the whole being when providing care to patients because it is easy to just focus the medical needs of patients due to busy schedules and forget about the socioeconomic and psychological aspects which could serve as huge barriers to care. I have been able to use this holistic approach for patients for during their visits by asking them variety of questions to be able to offer them appropriate care with treatment options. In addition, with the success of this project, I can continue to assess gaps in care and practice and offer appropriate evidence-based strategies to chronic health conditions for patients in the effort to improve their health outcomes.

Even with the conclusion of this doctoral project, I will continue to review the literature for updated treatment guidelines and interventions for various diseases and I

will be able to incorporate in patient care. I will also serve as a good source of education to staff in various settings regarding to how to efficiently care for chronic disease patients. Furthermore, an opportunity to continue this work and improve quality of life and health outcomes is my daily work, which is the care of geriatrics with various comorbidities and chronic diseases. Apart from the obvious project results, the project implementation period taught me a lot about time management, persistence, adequate planning, organization, and team work as a nurse leader. I also learned that it takes great collaboration between patients and the health care team to achieve improved health outcomes and this is essential in any practice setting.

My communication, leadership, and critical thinking skills were heightened with this project. I had to use these skills during my numerous interactions with all the clinic staff and the patient participants to ensure that the project was successfully carried out and appropriate results were achieved. My knowledge of and confidence in DM has also improved greatly, which is evident in how the patients responded to all my coaching tactics. My use of EHRs as well as different software to analyze data has also been greatly enhanced with this project. This proficiency has aided in better coordination of care between other health professionals and I in the effort to achieve desired health outcomes. In addition, this project has enhanced my scholar skills with literature to determine evidence-based strategies, applying research techniques to various projects, such as this, and the ability to develop a scholarly voice in various professional environments.

#### Summary

Improved glycemic control can lead to better health outcomes, improved quality of life, and enhanced care coordination between health care professionals and Type 2 diabetic patients. Efficient T2DM management necessitates enhanced patient knowledge and self-confidence which enable these patients to take lead and participate in daily selfcare activities related to their diabetes. Implementing an evidence-based intervention of biweekly phone calls to Type 2 diabetic Hispanic adult patients has been demonstrated through this doctoral project to lead to improved glycemic control and patient engagement in self-management and daily practices associated with their diabetes. The intervention composed of coaching sessions focused on dietary and lifestyle changes, medication adherence, adherence to clinic appointments, discussion of barriers and challenges, as well as enablers to DM, among many other related issues. It was evident that effective communication and continuous collaboration between the patients and the health care team go a long way in achieving better health outcomes such as reduced hospital readmission rates, lower rates of mortality and morbidity, improved quality of life, and decreased health care costs.

## References

- Accordino, R., Kopple-Perry, N., Gligorov, N. and Krieger, S. (2014). The medical record as legal document: When can the patient dictate the content? An ethics case from the Department of Neurology. *Clinical Ethics*, 9(1). 53-56. doi: 10.1177/1477750913517572
- Alharbi, N.S., Alsubki, N., Jones, S., Khunti, K., Munro, N. and de Lusignan, S. (2016).
  Impact of information technology–based interventions for Type 2 diabetes
  mellitus on glycemic control: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 18*(11), e310. doi:10.2196/jmir.5778

American Association of Diabetes Educators. (2014a). AADE self-care behaviors: American Association of Diabetes Educators (AADE) position statement. Retrieved from https://www.diabeteseducator.org/docs/default-source/legacydocs/\_resources/pdf/publications/aade7\_position\_statement\_final.pdf?sfvrsn=4

American Association of Diabetes Educators. (2014b). *Integrating diabetes education in the chronic care model AADE practice synopsis*. Retrieved from https://www.diabeteseducator.org/docs/default-source/legacydocs/ resources/pdf/general/CCM Synopsis Final.pdf

- American Diabetes Association. (2014). *Diabetes among Hispanics: All are not equal*. Retrieved from http://www.diabetes.org/newsroom/press-releases/2014/diabetesamong-hispanics-all-are-not-equal.html
- American Diabetes Association. (2016). Strategies for improving care. *Diabetes Care*, *39*(1), S6-S12. doi:10.2337/dc16-S004

American Diabetes Association. (2017). Standards of medical care in diabetes- 2017.
 *The Journal of Clinical and Applied Research and Education, 40*(1), S1-S135.
 Retrieved from
 https://professional.diabetes.org/sites/professional.diabetes.org/files/media/dc\_40

\_s1\_final.pdf

- American Diabetes Association. (2018a). *Blood glucose testing: A1C and eAG*. Retrieved from http://www.diabetes.org/living-with-diabetes/treatment-and-care/blood-glucose-control/a1c/
- American Diabetes Association. (2018b). Standards of medical care in diabetes—2018
  Abridged for primary care providers. *Clinical Diabetes*, *36*(1), 14-37.
  doi:10.2337/cd17-0119. Retrieved from

http://clinical.diabetesjournals.org/content/36/1/14

Armola, R.R., Bourgault, A.M., Halm, M.A., Board, R.M., Bucher, L., Harrington,
L.,...Medina, J. (2009). AACN levels of evidence: What's new? *Critical Care Nurse*, 29(4), 70-73. Retrieved from

http://ccn.aacnjournals.org/content/29/4/70.long

- Arpey, N.C., Gaglioti, A.H., & Rosenbaum, M.E. (2017). How socioeconomic status affects patient perceptions of health care: A qualitative study. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 8(3), 169-175. doi:10.1177%2F2150131917697439
- Ba-Essa, E.M., Abdulrham, S., Karkar, M., Alsehati, B., Alahmed, S., Aljobran,
  A.,...Alhawaj, A. (2018). Closing gaps in diabetes care: From evidence to
  practice. *Saudi Journal of Medicine & Medical Sciences*, 6(2), 68-76.

doi:10.4103/sjmms.sjmms 86 17

- Baptista, D.R., Wiens, A., Pontarolo, R., Regis, L., Reis, W.C., & Correr, C.J. (2016).
  The chronic care model for Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome*, *8*, 7. doi:10.1186/s13098-015-0119-z
- Bilous, R., & Donnelly, R. (2014). Handbook of diabetes: Management of Type 2 diabetes (4th ed.). Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *How the centers for disease control and prevention (CDC) supports community health workers in chronic disease prevention and health promotion*. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/programs/spha/docs/chw\_summary.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). *Diabetes report card 2014*. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/library/diabetesreportcard2014.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). Working together to manage diabetes: A Toolkit for pharmacy, podiatry, optometry, and dentistry (PPOD). *National Diabetes Education Program*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/ndep/pdfs/ppod-guide.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). *Adult obesity causes* & *consequences*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b). *Hispanic health: Preventing Type 2 diabetes*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/features/hispanichealth/index.html Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Smoking and diabetes*. Retrieved

from https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/campaign/tips/diseases/diabetes.html

- Chamany, S., Walker, E.A., Schechter, C.B., Gonzalez, J.S., Davis, N.J., Ortega, F.M.,... Silver, L.D. (2015). Telephone intervention to improve diabetes control: A randomized trial in the New York City A1c registry. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 49(6), 832-841. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.04.016
- Clark, M. L., & Utz, S. W. (2014). Social determinants of Type 2 diabetes and health in the United States. *World Journal of Diabetes*, *5*, 296–304. doi:10.4239/wjd.v5.i3.296
- Colberg, S.R., Sigal, R. J., Yardley, J. E., Riddell, M.C., Dunstan, D.W., Dempsey,
  P.C.,...Tate, D.F. (2016). Physical activity/exercise and diabetes: A position statement of the American diabetes association. *Diabetes Care, 39*, 2065-2079. doi:10.2337/dc16-1728
- Concha, J. B., Mayer, S. D., Mezuk, B. R., & Avula, D. (2016). Diabetes causation beliefs among spanish-speaking patients. *The Diabetes Educator*, 42(1), 116–125. doi:10.1177/0145721715617535
- Garcia, L., Lee, A., Al Hazzouri, A.Z., Neuhaus, J, M., Moyce, S., Aiello, A.,...Haan,
  M.N. (2016). Influence of neighborhood socioeconomic position on the transition
  to Type II diabetes in older Mexican Americans: The Sacramento area
  longitudinal study on aging. *BMJ*, *6*, e010905. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015010905
- Gray, J.R., Grove, S.K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's the practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (8th ed.). St.

Louis, MO: Saunders Elsevier.

- Gucciardi, E., Wing-Sheung Chan, V., Manuel, L., & Sidani, S. (2013). A systematic literature review of diabetes self-management education features to improve diabetes education in women of Black African/Caribbean and Hispanic/Latin American ethnicity. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *92*, 235–245. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2013.03.007
- Ha Dinh, T, T., Bonner, A., Clark, R., Ramsbotham, J., & Hines, S. (2016). The effectiveness of the teach-back method on adherence and self-management in health education for people with chronic disease: A systematic review. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *14*(1), 210-247. doi:10.11124/jbisrir-2016-2296.
- Hämäläinen, K. & Rautio, S. (2013). Participants' home as an interview context when studying sensitive family issues. *Journal of Comparative Social Work, 8*(1).
  Retrieved from http://journal.uia.no/index.php/JCSW/article/view/258/193
- Hemmingsen, B., Gimenez-Perez, G. Mauricio D., Roque I Figuls, M., Metzendorf, M., & Richter, B. (2017). Diet, physical activity or both for prevention or delay of Type 2 diabetes mellitus and its associated complications in people at increased risk. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 12.* doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003054.pub4
- Hu, J., Amirehsani, K., Wallace, D., & Letvak, S. (2013). Perceptions of barriers in managing diabetes: perspectives of Hispanic immigrant patients and family members. *The Diabetes Educator*, *39*, 494–503. doi:10.1177/0145721713486200

- Hu, J., Wallace, D., McCoy, T., & Amirehsani, K. (2014). A family-based diabetes intervention for Hispanic adults and their family members. *The Diabetes Educator*, 40(1), 48–59. doi:10.1177/0145721713512682
- Hua, X., Lung, T, W., Palmer, A., Si, L., Herman, W. H. and Clarke, P. (2017). How consistent is the relationship between improved glucose control and modelled health outcomes for People with Type 2 diabetes mellitus? A systematic review. *Pharmacoeconomics*, *35*, 319–329. doi:10.1007/s40273-016-0466-0
- Lee, P.A., Greenfield, G., & Pappas, Y. (2018). The impact of telehealth remote patient monitoring on glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18,495. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3274-8
- Manders, I. G., Stoecklein, K., Lubach, C.H., Bijl-Oeldrich, J., Nanayakkara, P.W.,
  Rauwerda, J.A.,...Eekhoff. E.M. (2016). Shift in responsibilities in diabetes care:
  The nurse-driven diabetes in-hospital treatment protocol (N-DIABIT). *Diabetic Medicine*, 33(6), 761–767. doi:10.111/dme.12899
- McGill, M., Blonde, L., Chan, J., Khunti, K., Lavalle, F.J., & Bailey, C.J. (2016). The interdisciplinary team in Type 2 diabetes management: Challenges and best practice solutions from real-world scenarios. *Journal of Clinical & Translational Endocrinology*, 7, 21-27. doi:10.1016/j.jcte.2016.12.001

National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2018). *Comprehensive diabetes care*. Retrieved from https://www.ncqa.org/hedis/measures/comprehensive-diabetescare/.

- Nicoll, K.G., Ramser, K.L., Campbell, J.D., Suda, K.J., Lee, M.D., Wood. C.,...Hamann,
  G.L. (2014). Sustainability of improved glycemic control after diabetes selfmanagement education. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 27, 207-211.
  doi:10.2337/diaspect.27.3.207
- Nuti, L., Turkcan, A., Lawley, M.A., Zhang, L., Sands, L. and McComb, S. (2015). The impact of interventions on appointment and clinical outcomes for individuals with diabetes: A systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*, 355. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0938-5
- Polit, D. F. & Beck, C. T. (2012). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (9th ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Rotberg, B., Greene, R., Ferez-Pinzon, A. M., Mejia, R., & Umpierrez, G. (2016).
  Improving diabetes care in the Latino population: The Emory Latino diabetes education program. *American Journal of Health Education*, 47(1), 1-7. doi:10.1080/19325037.2015.1111177
- Sami, W., Ansari, T., Butt, N.S., & Ab Hamid, M. R. (2017). Effect of diet on Type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review. *International Journal of Health Sciences*, *11*(2), 65–71. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5426415/
- Schmittdiel, J. A., Desai, J., Schroeder, E.B., Paolino, A.R., Nichols, G.A., Lawrence, J.M.,...Steiner, J.F. (2015). Methods for engaging stakeholders in comparative effectiveness research: A patient-centered approach to improving diabetes care. *Healthcare (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 3*(2), 80–88. doi:10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.02.005

Schnell, O., Klausmann, G., Gutschek, B., Garcia-Verdugo, R.M., & Hummel, M.

(2017). Impact on diabetes self-management and glycemic control of a new colorbased SMBG meter. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, 11*, 1218-1225. doi:10.1177/1932296817706376

Shahid, M., Mahar, S.A., Shaikh, S., Shaikh, Z. (2015). Mobile phone intervention to improve diabetes care in rural areas of Pakistan: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan, 25*, 166-171. doi:03.2015/JCPSP.166171

- Shen, Y., Wang, F., Zhang, X., Zhu, X., Sun, Q., Fisher, E. and Sun, X. (2018).
  Effectiveness of internet-based interventions on glycemic control in patients with
  Type 2 diabetes: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e172. doi:10.2196/jmir.9133
- Shrivastava, S. R., Shrivastava, P.S., & Ramasamy, J. (2013). Role of self-care in management of diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders*, *12*(14), 1-5. doi:10.1186/2251-6581-12-14
- Smith, J. & Noble, H. (2014). Bias in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 17(4) 100-101. doi:10.1136/eb-2014-101946
- Stellefson, M, Dipnarine, K., & Stopka, C. (2013). The chronic care model and diabetes management in US primary care settings: A systematic review. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 10*, E26. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120180
- Suksomboon, N., Poolsup, N., & Nge, Y. L. (2014). Impact of phone call intervention on glycemic control in diabetes patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis of

randomized, controlled trials. PLoS ONE, 9(2), e89207.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089207

Tshiswaka, D. I., Ibe- Lamberts, K.D., Mulunda, D. M., & Iwelunmor, J. (2017).
Perceptions of dietary habits and risk for Type 2 diabetes among Congolese immigrants. *Journal of Diabetes Research, 2017* (2017).
doi:10.1155/2017/4736176

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2013). Nutrition, physical activity and obesity. *Healthy People 2020*. Retrieved from http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/LHI/nutrition.aspx

Wagner, E.H. (1998). Chronic disease management: What will it take to improve care for chronic illness? *Effective Clinical Practice*, 1(1), 2-4. Retrieved from https://ecp.acponline.org/augsep98/cdm.pdf

Zhou, P., Xu, L., Liu, X., Huang, J., Xu, W. and Chen, W. (2014). Web-based telemedicine for management of Type 2 diabetes through glucose uploads: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology*, *7*, 8848-8854. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4313963/pdf/ijcep0007-8848.pdf

# Appendix A: Literature Review Matrix Template

and/or Theoretical Framework (specify)Method (including what, exactly, was done)of Study weaknesses of the study, remainingEv	idence
Theoretical Framework (specify)(including what, exactly, was done)weaknesses of the study, remaining	
Framework (specify)exactly, was done)of the study, remaining	
(specify) done) remaining	
gaps in the	
literature,	
and	
recommenda	
tions for	
future	
studies	
specifically	
mentioned	
by the	
author(s) of	
the article)	
Manders, I. The authors The researchers Retrospective Variety of BMI data AA	CN
G., reported that tried to study hospital were not Lev	els of
Stoecklein, there is poor investigate the wards available for Evic	dence
K., Lubach, glycemic feasibility, Data collected participate all patients. Lev	el B.
C.H., Bijl- control safety and on 210 adult d in the	1
Olderich, J., during efficacy of a patients with study	1y
Nanayakkar admissions, Nurse-Driven diabetes sup	ports
a, P.W., i.e. Diabetes in- consecutively Large patients to	rventi
Rauwerda, hypoglycemia Hospital admitted in the sample different (A	1
J.A., , I reatment 5-month period size and wards and D	mola,
Kramer, nypergiycemi protocol (N- tollowing the long different Hal	irgauit,
Eshoff avassive which consists of N DIADIT observatio protocol Dec	m, rd
E M shaasa af nurse driven (intervention n period implementat Duc	llu, har
E.M. glucose of nuise-univen (intervention i inprementate Buc	nin ata
Shift in and that thereasy confectional group) were No major could have a U	Inglo
significant negatively Lea	lealey,
ties in on of a analyses retrospectively difference influenced She	, Ilnar
dishetes Nurse Driven showed collected data on in gender the results.	mer,
care: The Disbetes In significant 200 consecutive and age	lina
nurse- Hospital reductions in patients with distributio The authors 200	anna, 0)
driven Treatment mean blood diabetes n between recommend	<i>)</i> .
diabetes in- protocol (N- glucose levels admitted in the the two that future	
hospital DIABIT) and consecutive 5-month period groups studies	
treatment improved it hypoglycemia before N-	
protocol and DIABIT was Special address the	
(N- Nurse Driven hyperglycemia implemented training long-term	
DIABIT). protocol in the (control group). for the maintenance	

Diabet. Med, 33, 761–767. doi: 10.1111/dm e.12899 Schroeder, J.E.,	adherence Nurse Driven therapeutic actions Improving efficiency in patient care Univariate and multivariate linear regression analyses Authors stated that	intervention compared to the control group. This demonstrated that implementation of N-DIABIT by trained ward nurses in non- intensive care unit diabetes care is feasible and effective in improving glycemic control. High protocol adherence was also associated with improved glycemic control.	Additional per- protocol analyses were performed in patients in whom mean patient-based protocol adherence was ≥70%. (intervention Subgroup of 173 vs. control subgroup of 196 participants). Randomized prospective study	nurses Standardiz ed BG measurem ents and target levels as recommen ded by current guidelines Faster detection and correction of abnormal BG values was noted when the N- DIABIT protocol was followed. There was a control group.	of protocol adherence, meaningful reductions in admission length, and cost- effectiveness	AACN Levels of	
Liebergall, M., Raz, I., Egleston,	glycemic control during	the benefits of implementing an intensive	admitted to the Orthopedic Surgery	There was a control	sumpre size	Evidence Level B	

R Ben	hospital	subcutaneous	denartment were	group			
Sussan D	admissions is	insulin protocol	nrospectively	Broup	Study	Well	
Dayser $\Lambda$	admissions is	in an orthonedic	randomized	The	limited to	defined	
r cysci, A.,	standard	department	during a 6 month	nrogram		randomiza	
$\alpha$ Eluor, K. (2012)	statiuatu	department.	nariad Ora	program	denartment	d atudu	
(2012). Denefite of	quanty and	M 1.1 1	period. One	was fallowed		d study	
Benefits of	demonstrated	Mean blood	group of 50	lollowed	only which	that	
a simple	that the	glucose levels	patients received	up by a	may have	supports	
glycemic	utilization of	during the	standard care	consulting	compromise	the	
protocol in	a glycemic	hospital stay	with sliding scale	diabetolog	d the study	interventi	
an	protocol	were lower in	insulin and the	ist.	results	on	
orthopaedic	improved it.	the intervention	other group of 35			(Armola	
surgery		group compared	received the			et al.,	
ward: A	Improving	to the control	intervention			2009).	
randomized	health	group. Length	protocol. The				
prospective	outcomes	of stay was also	staff was				
study.		shorter by 2	educated on the				
Diabetes		days in the	importance of				
Metab. Res.	Achieving	intervention	glucose				
<i>Rev.</i> , 28,	target goals	group	monitoring and				
71–75		9. ° «P.	control during				
doi:10.1002		The number of	this time An				
/dmrr 1217		severe	intensive				
/ 411111.121/		hyperglycemic	multiple-				
		avents (blood	injection				
		events (blood	njection				
		glucose level	protocol				
		above 400) was	four daily				
		significantly	Tour dally				
		lower in the	regular/neutral				
		intervention	protamine				
		group. There	hagedorn (NPH)				
		was no	insulin injections				
		significant	was				
		difference in the	implemented in				
		number of	the intervention				
		hypoglycemic	group.				
		events.					
		The result					
		demonstrated					
		that the four-					
		step					
		intervention					
		protocol					
		improved					
		glycemic					
		control of					
		hospitalized					
		natients in the					
		orthonedic					
		department and					
		made the					
		treatment of					
		these noticets					
		these patients					
		easier.					
Coto, J.A., Yehle, K.S., & Regression Poli, K.J. (2016).A retrospective cohort analysis was conducted on Type 2 diabetic adults. Pre-diabetic protocol and healthcare cost.Large cost.No real-time doservationAACN Level SCost. effectiveness and healthcare cost.Cost. cost.There were protocol diabetic adults. protocol tabetic protocol cost.Large sample cohort studyNo real-time doservationAACN Level SReturns and rays and healthcare cost.Cost. cost.There were protocol tabetic protocol cost.No real-time doservationAACN Level SCost. Clinical study is of cost. cost.Cost. cost.Pre- diabetic protocol trevence that staiks factor for less than desired of a diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic of a diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic on fa diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic on fa diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic on fa diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic control and optimal healthA retrospective consted of 149 consisted of 149 combinal health the blood glucose and decrease in the blood glucos							
---	---	-----------------	--	---------------	-----------	---------------	------------
Zum, L., Linear (X-R, & (S), K.J. (2016).Linear (Linear Regression ModelCohornallysis was conducted on Type 2 diabetic adults.Retrospective cohort studyLarge observationDecrels of Evidence tive frame sample such as co- for variables such as co- mortality, patient such as co- such as co- timeframeInterventi asports mortality, patient such as co- timeframeInterventi ever 18 yatient socioeconoWell- defined study that diabetic protocol vs post- at as a risk and implementati on of a diabetic protocol lead to improved factor for less within the inpatient socios ample constied of 149 post-protocol sample consisted of 149 patients.Retorspective social co- protocol social co- protocol sample consisted of 149 patients.Interventi assignment was predictableInterventi assignment was predictable2003)et al., comprised of impatient diabetic protocol sample consisted of 149 patients.Pre- mortality, patient and ofder and ofder and ofder and ofder and or with abormal bost-protocol sample consisted of 149 patients.Number patients.Number patient socioecono consisted of 149 patients.Number patients.Number patient socioecono subortable socioecono subortableNumber patients.Number patient socioecono socioecono socioecono socioeconoNumber patient socioecono socioecono socioecono socioecono socioeconoNumber patient socioecono socioecono socioecono socioecono socioecono socioeconoNumber<	Coto I A	General	A retrospective		Large	No real-time	AACN
ActionDiscussionDiscussionDiscussionDiscussionDiscussionFolt, K.J. (2016).Modelon Type 2cohort studygoodThere were timeframeEvere BRelationshi p between standardizePatient safetyPre-diabetic protocolpre-diabetic protocolThere were such as co- morbidity, and on controlWell- definedd glycenic protocolCost. centerDecember 2011) and post- diabeticPre- diabetic protocolPre- diabetic protocolWell- defined such as co- morbidity, and on (Argust 2012- Cotober 2012).Pre- diabetic groupsWell- defined such as co- morbidity, and on on control (Argust 2012- Cotober 2012).Pre- diabetic groupsWell- diabetic protocol groups78. doi: 10.1177/10 string and impatient outcomes.Free sample and ited w/o adited w/o complication and ider adited w/o protocol sample consisted of 149 protocol sample consisted of 149Authors concluded that sliding scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin admited w/o aditests and post-protocol sampleSupport scale insulin admitest who received the diabetic protocol in 2012 experienced a <br< td=""><td>Yehle</td><td>Linear</td><td>cohort analysis</td><td>Retrospective</td><td>sample</td><td>observation</td><td>Levels of</td></br<>	Yehle	Linear	cohort analysis	Retrospective	sample	observation	Levels of
<ul> <li>R.S., &amp; Korrel Registront</li> <li>Rola, K.J.</li> <li>Model</li> <li>on Type 2</li> <li>diabetic adults.</li> <li>protocol</li> <li>protocol</li> <li>and</li> <li>Authors</li> <li>effectiveness</li> <li>protocol</li> <li>protocol</li> <li>and</li> <li>Authors</li> <li>effectiveness</li> <li>protocol</li> <li>cost.</li> <li>study is of</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>predenates who</li> <li>were 18 years</li> <li>and older</li> <li>adrotro for less</li> <li>werin 18 adrotro</li> <li>glucemic</li> <li>science</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>(Arnola</li> <li>effectiveness</li> <li>study is of</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>relevance</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>study is of</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>study is of</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>study is of</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>adrotro</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>(August 2012-</li> <li>(Chineal</li> <li>(Chineal<td>KS &amp;</td><td>Regression</td><td>was conducted</td><td>cohort study</td><td>size and</td><td>00sel vation</td><td>Evidence</td></li></ul>	KS &	Regression	was conducted	cohort study	size and	00sel vation	Evidence
Prof. R.J. (2016).Pretociabetic aduative adults.good diabetic adults.protocol such as co- morbidity, supportsVell- such as co- morbidity, supportsRelationshi p betweeni add effectivenessCost. (January 2011- December 2011) and post- diabeticPre- diabetic yrotocolmortality, supports socioecono grotocolWell- such as co- morbidity, supports socioecono (Armola et al., 2009).and healthcare cost.Authors report that study is of (Agust 2012- (Acust 2012).protocol protocol groupsmortality, mortality, supports socioecono acuity, and acuity, and on or acuity, and on or acuity, and assignment was predictableOctober 2012). predictableRoom assignment was groupsResearch, 10.1177/10 St47738145hyperglycemi and older admited w/o complication admited w/o complication admited w/oRoom assignment was glucose. Pre- glucose. Pre- glycemic control ad protocol sample control ad opt-protocol sample control ad opt-protocol sample control ad opt-protocol sample control ad opt-protocol sample control ad opt-protocol in 2012Muthors consisted of 149 protocol in 2012 experinced a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days. This study demonstrated that the demonstrated that the decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days. This study demonstrated that the decrease in and implemen - tation of a decrease in and implemen - tation of aIntervential protocol-basedNuthors cor	K.S., &	Model	on Turno 2	conort study	size and	Thora wora	L aval P
(2016). Relationshi p between standardize d giveemic effectivenesPrediabetic protocol (January 2011- December 2011) and post- and Authors time report that report that study is of a is a risk official (August 2012- Octocol Study is of 1 (August 2012- Octocol study is of 2101) and post- area is a risk inpatients who were 18 years 10.1177/10Internance interventio science protocol diabetic groupsWell- defined suby suby that supports protocol mortality, supports protocol mortality, activity, and on on (Armola miterventi a is a risk inpatients who within the and older at a risk abormal setting and implementati glucose. Pre- on of a or factor leads protocol sample control and implementati glucose. Pre- on of a on factor leads protocol sample control and outcomes.Internance report that protocol that desired addited w/o complication sample setting and implementati glucose. Pre- on of a on of a on factor leads to improved post-protocol sample control and outcomes.Internance report that setting and fasting blod implementati protocol sample control and outcomes.Internance report to factor protocol sample consisted of 149 protocol in 2012Internance the sample control and decrease in the blod glucose and decrease in the blod glucose and decrease in the blod glucose and decrease in and dmisend and admission days. This study demonstrated that the decrease in the blod glucose and decrease in and fast acting finality final acting finality final diabeticInternance protocol acting final bl	$\Gamma 0 \Pi, \mathbf{K} . \mathbf{J} .$	Model	diahatia adulta		good	There were	Level B
Relationshi Patient safety Pre-diabetic protocol such as co- standardize Cost- (January 2011- d glycemic effectiveness December 2011) and post- and Authors diabetic 2011) and post- nealthcare report that protocol (Armola diabetic ys post- study is of (August 2012- protocol mic status, and on mic status study is of (August 2012). groups Research, Nursing because The sample comprised of a si a risk inpatients who factor for less were 18 years of consisted of 346 protocol sample consisted of 346 protocol sample consisted of 149 optiments. Patients who impatient abnormal setting and inperiod coll sample consisted of 346 protocol sample consisted of 149 optiments. Patients who in orfa a consisted of 149 optiments. Patients who in orfa a patients who impatient and /or with and /or with aster and /or with inpatient adnormal setting and /or with inpatient shohe /or	(2010).		D 1: 1		timeframe	no control	XX 7 11
p between standardize d glycemic d glycemic d glycemic and Authors cost. study is of Clinical Secures hyperglycemic cost. study is of (August 2012- cost. Clinical Authors cost. study is of (August 2012- cost. Clinical Secures hyperglycemic cost. study is of (August 2012- cost. Study is of (August 2012- cost. Study is of (August 2012- cost. Study is of (August 2012- cost. Secures hyperglycemic comprised of a is a risk inpatients who within the and older admitted w/o Sources complication within the and of ar protocol sample comprised of a is a risk inpatients who within the and older admitted w/o Sources complication within the and or with inpatient setting and fasting blodd to improved protocol sample consisted of 149 optimal patients who within the and dicrease in the bload to improved glycemic consisted of 149 optimal patients who within the and dicrease in the bload glucose consisted of 149 optimal patients who structured protocol sample control and consisted of 149 optimal patients who structured protocol is and diabetic protocol is and diabetic protocol is and diabetic protocol sample control and consisted of 149 optimal patients who structured protocol is and decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in and implemental attion of a attion of a attion of a attion of a attion of a attion of a attio	Relationshi	Patient safety	Pre-diabetic		S	for variables	Well-
standardize d glycemic cost.Cost. effectiveness(January 2011- December 2011) and post- diabeticPre- diabetic protocolmortality, mortality, patientstudy that interventi accience on (Armola mortality, patient.and healthcare cost.Authors(January 2011- diabeticPre- diabeticmortality, patient.study that interventi accience on (Armola mortality, patient.study that interventi accience on (Armola mortality, protocolstudy that interventi accience on (Armola mortality, protocol78. doi: 10.1177/10 than desired and ofer ating and impatient setting and inpatient to improved glycemic consisted of 346 protocol sample control and optimal patients.auther accience protocol patients and patients.Authors concluded (SSI) dosing diabetic protocol sample control and consisted of 149 optimal patients.support proper proper proper proper protocolsauth diabetic protocol in 2012patients.support protocol sample control and consisted of 149 potocolsmortality, authors mortality, authors control of study data sample control and derease in admitestichmortality, authors admitestich protocol and patients.10.1122 comprised and decrease in <br< td=""><td>p between</td><td></td><td>protocol</td><td></td><td></td><td>such as co-</td><td>defined</td></br<>	p between		protocol			such as co-	defined
d glycemic protocolseffectiveness 2011) and post- and healthcare report that rotocolDecember 2011) and post- and post- protocoldiabetic protocolprotocil acuity, and on mic status.supports interventi acuity, and optimicClinical Nursing Research, hyperglycemic to 1177/10relevance that sa risk inpatients who inpatients who inpatients who were 18 yearsProtocol groupsRoom assignment was groupset al., 2009).25(1), 67- to 1177/10a is a risk inpatients admited w/o outcomes complicationadmitted w/o to relevanceAuthors concluded that sliding scale insulin scale insulin groupsAuthors concluded that sliding scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin patient abnormal setting and diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic consisted of 346 protocol leads to improved glycemic consisted of 346 protocol leads to improved glycemic consisted of 149Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols which the use of structured protocol in 20122012 consisted of 149 optimal healthpatients. Patients who admites.Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocol in 20122012 consisted of admites protocol in admites in the admites in the admites in day admites in the admites in the <br< td=""><td>standardize</td><td>Cost-</td><td>(January 2011-</td><td></td><td>Pre-</td><td>morbidity,</td><td>study that</td></br<>	standardize	Cost-	(January 2011-		Pre-	morbidity,	study that
protocols and healthcare2011) and post- diabeticprotocol vs post- diabeticprotocol vs post- diabeticprotocol on on diabeticprotocol socioeconomiterventi on on mic status.etalticare on on mic status.etalticare on on mic status.etalticare on on mic status.etalticare on on mic status.etalticare on on on diabeticprotocol socioeconomiterventi on on mic status.etalticare on on on diabeticprotocol socioeconoprotocol on on diabeticmiterventi on on on assignmentgauient on on assignmentgauient on on assignmentgauient on on assignmentgauient on on assignmentgauient on on assignmentgauient on on on on on on on factor for lesswere 18 years and older admitted w/o outcomesRoom assignment was predictableAuthors concluded that sliding scale insulin (SS1) dosing dosing doses not support proper glycemic control and outcomes.protocol sample on fa protocol sample outcomes.protocol sample outcomesprotocol support protocol glycemic control and outcomes.protocol consisted of 149 protocol protocol sampleprotocol support protocols diabetic protocol support protocolprotocol support protocol sampleprotocol support protocols diabetic protocol sal insulin admitson days.protocol sal insulin ation of a protocol-basedprotocol protocol sal protocol-base	d glycemic	effectiveness	December		diabetic	mortality,	supports
andAuthorsdiabeticvs post- protocolacuity, and socioeconoonhealthcarereport thatprotocoldiabeticsocioecono(ArmolaClinicalrelevanceOctober 2012).groupsmic status.et al.,NursingbecauseThe sampleResearch,hyperglycemicomprised ofassignment25(1), 67-a is a riskinpatients whomasgroupsRoomassignment78. doi:factor for lesswere 18 yearsnot olderadmitted w/oAuthorsconcluded547738145clinicaladmitted w/oadmitted w/oscale insulinscale insulin547738145clinicalfasting bloodglucose. Pre-does notdoes noton of aprotocol sampleconsisted of 346properglycemicglycemicon of aconsisted of 149diabeticpost-protocolglycemicsampleglycemicsampleconsisted of 149diabeticypot2diabeticypot2outcomes.received theprotocol samplediabeticprotocol ininterwentionsoutcomes.received theglycemicadmitted w/oglycemicasali insulinadmitted w/oadmitted w/oadmitted w/ointerwentionsinterwentionsoutcomesconsisted of 149diabeticprotocol inconsisted of 149interwentionsoutcomes.received theglucosenatadmitted w/ointerwentionsi	protocols		2011) and post-		protocol	patient	interventi
healthcare report that study is of (August 2012- Clinical relevance October 2012). Nursing because The sample comprised of issignment years assignment years is a six inpatients who is the sample outcomes complication and older issignment abormal setting and fasting blood implementati of a post-octol sample diabetic consisted of 149 post-octol sample post-protocol sample diabetic protocol leads to improved post-protocol sample control and outcomes. received the health Patients who is structured protocols which health Patients who is structured post-protocol in 2012 combined interventions interventions interventions interventions and decrease in a dimension days. This study demonstrated that the decrease in a diminglemen - tation of a protocol improved protocol improved in the sample and decrease in a diminglement and implement - tation of a protocol improved in the substore outcomes. This study and decrease in a diminglement and implement and implement and implement a diabetic protocol improved post-protocol improved in the use of the use	and	Authors	diabetic		vs post-	acuity, and	on
cost.study is of (August 2012- (Clinical Nursing because(August 2012- (August 2012), (Clinical 	healthcare	report that	protocol		diabetic	socioecono	(Armola
Clinical Nursing Research, hyperglycemi 25(1), 67- a is a riskOctober 2012). The sample inpatients who impatients who were 18 years adder admitted w/o complication admitted w/o concluded admitted w/o concluded that sliding scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin scale insulin diabetic protocol leads to improtocol sample consisted of 149 potocol in 2012groups2009).2009).Comprised of inpatient admitted w/o concluded that sliding scale insulin diabetic protocol leads to improved optimal patients who received the diabetic protocol leads to improved optimal potocol clinic control and optimal potocol in 2012groups2009).Clinical support impatient diabetic protocol sample consisted of 149 potocol in 2012Authors control and optimal proper glycemic control and optimal patients who received the diabetic protocol in 20122009).Research, diabetic protocol leads to improved potocol control and optimal health outcomes.Simple consisted of 149 protocol in 2012Simple control and incorporate combined incorporate combined interventions int	cost.	study is of	(August 2012-		protocol	mic status.	et al.,
Nursing Research, 25(1), 67-because hyperglycemi comprised of inpatients who were 18 years and older admitted w/o complicationRoom assignment was predictable10.1177/10 547738145 39003factor for less inpatient within the inpatient setting and diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemic control of a optimal healthThe sample complication admitted w/o concluded4clinical concluded that sliding scale insulin (SSI) dosing glucose. Pre- protocol sample consisted of 346 protocol leads to improved glycemic control of agients.Room assignment was protocol sample consisted of 346 glycemic control of sample control of Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols diabetic protocol in 2012Room assignment was protocol support glycemic control of Type 2 diabetes but which incorporate combined incorporate combined interventions , long acting blood glucose and decrease in admission days. This study demonstrated that the development admission days.Room assignment was protocol-based10naryprotocol-basedmany	Clinical	relevance	October 2012).		groups		2009).
Research, 25(1), 67- 78. doi: 10.1177/10       hyperglycemi a is a risk factor for less 10.1177/10       comprised of inpatients who that desired admitted w/o complication within the inpatient setting and implementati on of a protocol leads to improved glycemic control and outcomes.       aatifted with admitted w/o complication complication and /or with admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication admitted w/o complication glycemic control and optimal health outcomes.       Authors concluded that sliding scale insulin glucose. Pre- protocol leads post-protocol glycemic control and outcomes.         protocol leads to improved glycemic control and optimal health outcomes.       patients and patients. Patients. Patients who outcomes.       glycemic control of support patients. Patients who outcomes.         potocol in 2012 experienced a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days. This study demonstrated that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-based       interwentions protocol-based	Nursing	because	The sample		0 1	Room	,
25(1), 67- 78, doi: 10.1177/10a is a risk inpatients who were 18 years and older admitted w/owas predictable39003clinical clinical outcomesadmitted w/o complication and /or with and /or with and /or with glucose. Pre- protocol sample on of a glycemic consisted of 346 proper protocol leads to improved glycemic control and outcomes.Authors concluded (SSI) dosing dosing dependence protocol leads to improved glycemic consisted of 149 patients.Signature consisted of 346 proper proper does not support to improved glycemic control and outcomes.0optimal patients.patients. patients.the use of tructured protocols diabetic protocol in consisted of 149 patients.0optimal patients.patients. protocol in a diabetic protocol in consisted of 149 patients.the use of tructured protocols0consisted of 149 patients.interventions incorporate combined incorporate combined incorporate combined incorporate combined interventions , long acting blood glucose and decrease in a dimission days.intermediate and mislemen- tation of a protocol-based	Research	hyperglycemi	comprised of			assignment	
21(5):       Tactor for less than desired       Input type         10.1177/10       factor for less than desired       and older         39003       admitted w/o       Authors         39003       complication       concluded         within the inpatient       admotted w/o       Concluded         setting and       fasting blood       (SSI) dosing         implementati       on of a       protocol sample       support         on of a       protocol sample       consisted of 346       proper         glycemic       consisted of 149       diabetic       consisted of 149         optimal       patients.       the use of       the use of         health       Patients who       structured       protocols         outcomes.       received the       protocols       which         incorporate       2012       combined       interventions         admission days.       admission days.       intermediate         admission days.       This study       admission days.       intermediate         admission days.       This study       adfist       adfiscipli         outcomes       protocol-based       and implemen -       tation of a	25(1) 67-	a is a risk	inpatients who			was	
7.5 doi:       Income for the rest         10.1177/10       than desired clinical       and older         39003       outcomes       complication         within the inpatient       and /or with       that sliding         setting and implementati       fasting blood       (SSI) dosing         diabetic       protocol sample       support         glycemic       sample       glycemic         control and       post-protocol       consisted of 149         optimal       patients.       the use of         health       patients.       the use of         bettic       protocol in       incorporate         control and       consisted of 149       diabetic         outcomes.       received the       protocols         diabetic       protocol in       incorporate         control and       consisted of 149       diabetic         outcomes.       received the       protocols         diabetic       protocol in       incorporate         coll       admetica       admission days.         thealth       patients       admission days.         intermediate       admission days.       intermediate         add implemen -       dosing, and	78 doi:	factor for less	were 18 years			nredictable	
10.11/100       indicident and offer         39003       clinical offer       admitted w/o complication concluded         39003       outcomes complication abnormal scale insulin       scale insulin         setting and fasting blood implementati on of a protocol sample protocol sample protocol leads to improved post-protocol       glycemic control of glycemic control of glycemic sample diabetic protocol leads to improved post-protocol       glycemic control of glycemic control and consisted of 149 diabetic which incorporate combined interventions decrease in a admission days. This study demonstrated that the development and implemention and implementited and fastand andimplemention and implementite and an and imple	10.1177/10	than desired	and older			predictione	
39003       Authors         39003       outcomes       complication         within the       and /or with       that sliding         inpatient       abnormal       scale insulin         setting and       fasting blood       (SSI) dosing         implementati       glucose. Pre-       does not         on of a       protocol sample       support         protocol leads       patients and       glycemic         control and       consisted of 149       diabetes but         optimal       patients.       the use of         health       Patients who       structured         outcomes.       received the       protocols         diabetic       protocol in       incorporate         control and       corecived the       protocols         outcomes.       received the       jong acting         blood glucose       admission days.       interventions         admission days.       This study       and fast         admission days.       This study       adfast         admission days.       insulin for       correctional         dosing, and       multidiscipli       protocol-based       nary	547729145	alinical	allu oluel			Authors	
39003       Outcomes       Complication       Concluded         within the       and /or with       that sliding       scale insulin         setting and       fasting blood       (SSI) dosing       does not         implementati       glucose. Pre-       does not       glycemic         on of a       protocol sample       support       glycemic         diabetic       consisted of 346       proper       glycemic         to improved       post-protocol       control of       glycemic         control and       consisted of 149       diabetes but       the use of         optimal       patients.       the use of       structured         protocol in       incorporate       combined       incorporate         outcomes.       received the       interventions       decrease in         decrease in the       , long acting       blood glucose       aad fast         admission days.       This study       and fast       acting         that the       dosing, and       tation of a       protocol-based	20002	cimical	admitted w/o			Authors	
within theand /or withInfat sittinginpatientabnormalscale insulinsetting andfasting blood(SSI) dosingimplementatiglucose. Pre-does noton of aprotocol samplesupportprotocol leadspatients andglycemicto improvedpost-protocolcontrol ofglycemicsampleType 2control andconsisted of 149diabetes butoptimalpatients.the use ofhealthPatients whostructuredoutcomes.received theprotocolsdiabeticwhichincorporate2012combinedinterventionsdecrease in the, long actingblood glucoseaad dission days.interwediateThis studydemonstratedactingthat thedission days.intermediateThis studyand fastactingthat thedosing, anddowing, andinticicicipliprotocol-basednut/tidiscipli	39003	outcomes	complication			concluded	
inpatientabnormalscale insulinsetting andfasting blood(SSI) dosingimplementatiglucose. Pre-does noton of aprotocol samplesupportdiabeticconsisted of 346properprotocol leadspatients andglycemicto improvedpost-protocolcontrol ofglycemicsampleType 2control andconsisted of 149diabetes butoptimalpatients.the use ofhealthPatients whostructuredoutcomes.received thewhichdiabeticprotocol inzombined2012combinedinterventionsaddresse in the, long actingblood glucoseaad admission days.intermediateThis studyand fastactingadmission days.intermediateactingThis studyand fastactingand implemen -dosing, andtation of aprotocol-basedmultidiscipliprotocol-basednary		within the	and /or with			that sliding	
setting and implementatifasting blood(SSI) dosing does noton of a diabeticglucose. Pre- protocol sampledoes notdiabetic protocol leadspatients and post-protocolglycemic control ofglycemic glycemicsampleType 2control and outcomes.consisted of 149diabetes but diabeticoutcomes.patientsthe use of structuredprotocol in 2012received the diabeticprotocolsoutcomes.received the diabeticprotocolswhich and decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.interventions as well as atmistion for correctionalThis study demonstrated that theand fast acting insulin for correctional dosing, and tation of a protocol-basedany		inpatient	abnormal			scale insulin	
implementatiglucose. Pre- protocol sampledoes noton of aprotocol samplesupportdiabeticconsisted of 346properprotocol leadspost-protocolcontrol ofglycemicsampleType 2control andconsisted of 149diabetes butoptimalpatients.the use ofhealthPatients whostructuredoutcomes.received theprotocolsdiabeticwhichincorporate2012combinedinterventionsadmission days.intermediateadmission days.This studyand fastadmission days.This studyand fastadmission days.attinginsulin forcorrectionalandiplemen -dosing, andutildiscipliprotocol-basednary		setting and	fasting blood			(SSI) dosing	
on of a diabeticprotocol sample consisted of 346support proper glycemicprotocol leads to improved glycemicpatients and post-protocolglycemic control ofglycemic control and optimal healthconsisted of 149 patients.diabetes but the use of structuredoutcomes.received the diabetic protocol in 2012protocols which incorporate combinedoutcomes.received the diabetic protocol in 2012protocols incorporate combinedoutcomes.received a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.interventions intermediate and fast acting insulin for correctional and fast acting insulin for dosing, and multidiscipli protocol-based		implementati	glucose. Pre-			does not	
diabetic protocol leads to improved glycemicconsisted of 346 patients and post-protocolproper glycemic control ofglycemic control and optimal healthsample consisted of 149 patients.Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols diabetic protocol in 2012the use of structured protocols which incorporate combined interventions decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.the use of structured protocols interventions decrease in admission days.This study demonstrated that the and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedand implemen - dosing, and multidiscipli nary		on of a	protocol sample			support	
protocol leads to improved glycemicpatients and post-protocolglycemic control ofrecord optimal healthconsisted of 149 patients.diabetes but diabetes butoptimal outcomes.patients.the use of structuredoutcomes.received the diabeticprotocols whichoutcomes.received the combinedincorporate combined2012 experienced a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.jong acting that the demonstrated that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedanary		diabetic	consisted of 346			proper	
to improved glycemicpost-protocol samplecontrol of Type 2control and optimalconsisted of 149 patients.diabetes but the use of structuredhealthPatients who received the diabeticprotocolsoutcomes.received the diabeticprotocolscombinedcombinedincorporate combined2012combinedinterventions , long actingblood glucose admission days.ad decrease in admission days.as well as intermediate and fast actingThis study dewolpment and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedand multidiscipli nary		protocol leads	patients and			glycemic	
glycemic control and optimal healthsample consisted of 149 patients.Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols which incorporate combined interventions decrease in admission days.Type 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols which incorporate combined interventions decrease in admission days.This study demonstrated that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedType 2 diabetes but the use of structured protocols which incorporate combined interventions admission decrease in admission days.		to improved	post-protocol			control of	
control and optimal healthconsisted of 149 patients.diabetes but the use of structured protocols whichoutcomes.received the diabetic protocol in 2012protocols which incorporate combined interventions , long acting blood glucose and decrease in admission days.interventions as well as intermediate and fast acting insulin for correctional dosing, and multidiscipli protocol-based		glycemic	sample			Type 2	
optimal healthpatients.the use of structured protocols whichoutcomes.received the diabetic protocol in 2012incorporate combined2012combined interventions decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.jong acting basal insulin as well as intermediate acting insulin for correctional dosing, and multidiscipli protocol-based		control and	consisted of 149			diabetes but	
Patients who outcomes.Patients who received the diabetic protocol in 2012structured protocols which incorporate combined interventions , long acting blood glucose and decrease in admission days.structured protocol interventions admission days.This study demonstrated that the and implement and implement tation of a protocol-basedatrust admission anay		optimal	patients.			the use of	
outcomes.received the diabetic protocol in 2012protocols which incorporate combined interventions , long acting blood glucose and decrease in and decrease in admission days.protocols incorporate combined basal insulin as well as intermediate and fast acting that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedprotocols which incorporate combined interventions decrease decrease in as well as intermediate acting insulin for correctional dosing, and multidiscipli nary		health	Patients who			structured	
OutcomestInterventionInterventionsdiabeticprotocol inincorporate2012combinedexperienced ainterventionsdecrease in the, long actingblood glucosebasal insulinand decrease inas well asintermediateintermediateadmission days.intermediateThis studyand fastdemonstratedinsulin forcorrectionalcorrectionaldosing, andmultidiscipliprotocol-basednary		outcomes	received the			protocols	
protocol in 2012incorporate combinedcombined a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in a admission days., long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate and fast acting that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-baseddatabase protocol-based, long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate acting multidiscipli nary		outcomes.	diabetic			which	
2012combinedexperienced ainterventionsdecrease in the, long actingblood glucosebasal insulinand decrease inas well asintermediateintermediateThis studyand fastdemonstratedinsulin forthat thecorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			nrotocol in			incornorate	
2012experienced a decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days.interventions , long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate and fast acting that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedinterventions , long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate acting multidiscipli nary			2012			combined	
decrease in the blood glucose and decrease in admission days., long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate and fast acting that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-based, long acting basal insulin as well as intermediate acting multidiscipli nary			avparianced a			interventions	
blood glucose and decrease in admission days. This study demonstrated that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-based			dooroogo in the			lang acting	
and decrease in admission days.as well as intermediateThis study demonstrated that the development and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedacting insulin for dosing, and multidiscipli nary			la l			, long acting	
and decrease inas well asadmission days.intermediateThis studyand fastdemonstratedactingthat theinsulin fordevelopmentcorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			blood glucose			basal insulin	
admission days.intermediateThis studyand fastdemonstratedactingthat theinsulin fordevelopmentcorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			and decrease in			as well as	
This study demonstrated that the and implemen - tation of a protocol-basedand fast acting insulin for correctional dosing, and multidiscipli nary			admission days.			intermediate	
demonstratedactingthat theinsulin fordevelopmentcorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			This study			and fast	
that theinsulin fordevelopmentcorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			demonstrated			acting	
developmentcorrectionaland implemen -dosing, andtation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			that the			insulin for	
and implemen - tation of a protocol-baseddosing, and multidiscipli nary			development			correctional	
tation of amultidiscipliprotocol-basednary			and implemen -			dosing, and	
protocol-based nary			tation of a			multidiscipli	
			protocol-based			nary	
care for type 2 approaches			care for type 2			approaches	
DM adult does.			DM adult			does.	
natients is			patients is				

		related to improved glycemic control during admission and at the time of discharge, while decreasing the LOS and excess admission days.				
Marelli,G., Avanzini,F. , Iacuitti,G., Planca,E., Frigerio,I., Busi,G., Carlino,L., Cortesi,L., Roncaglion i,M.C.,& Riva, E. (2015). Effectivene ss of a nurse- managed protocol to prevent hypoglyce mia in hospitalized patients with diabetes. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Diabetes</i> <i>Research</i> , [173956]. doi: 10.1155/20 15/173956	Wilcoxon test for median analyses Poisson regression Multivariable logistic models Increasing nurse satisfaction Improving patient outcomes	In 350 consecutive Type 2 diabetic in-patient adults, hypoglycemic incidences(bloo d glucose < 70 mg/dL) during SC insulin treatment was assessed before (phase A) and after (phase B) the protocol was implemented following specific criteria. 84 patients in phase A and 266 in phase B received SC insulin for median periods of, respectively, 7 (Q1–Q3 6– 12) and 6 days (Q1–Q3 4–9). Hypoglycemic incidences reduced significantly from 0.34 $\pm$ 0.33 per day in phase A to 0.19 $\pm$ 0.30 in phase	Prospective pre- post-intervention study Authors wanted to test the efficacy and safety of the Desio Diabetes Diagram (DDD) protocol to prevent hypoglycemia during subcutaneous (SC) insulin treatment, which leads to better glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic adults.	Characteri stics of both groups were well matched except for BMI Long duration of study (3 years) Novel approach: Focus on prevention than treatment Well accepted and utilized by nurses Use of a control group Characteri stics of protocol make it usable in other	Study was carried out in a single center Causal relationship between strategies used and findings could not be established due to type of study method Despite limitations, authors conclude that the protocol implementat ion as well as education/tra ining of both nurses and patients played a great part in reducing hypoglycemi c episodes.	AACN Levels of Evidence Level B Well- defined prospectiv e study that supports interventi on (Armola et al., 2009). Improved glycemic control was demonstra ted in the study (hypoglyc emia episodes decreased when protocol was used)

		B.		clinical		
				contexts		
Renthal. N.	Improving	Authors tried to	Retrospective		Small	AACN
Roe, E.D.,	patient	determine the	study	Randomiz	sample size	Levels of
Adams-	outcomes	efficacy of the	5	ed sample	1	Evidence
Huet, B., &		Glucose-insulin		· · · · · · ·	Observation	Level B
Raskin, P.	Patient safety	infusion-		There was	al nature	
(2013). A		Parkland		a control		Well-
novel		Protocol		group	Comparison	defined
glucose-		(GIPPr) on		<i>8</i> • • • •	of protocols	study that
insulin		blood glucose		Type of	with other	supports
infusion		readings and to		surgery	institutions	interventi
maintains		measure rates of		did not	not possible	on
perioperativ		euglycemia in		influence	because this	(Armola
e glycemic		Type 2 diabetic		outcomes	was a county	et al
control		adults admitted			sponsored	2009).
through		in a hospital for		Characteri	teaching	
multiple		surgery. They		cs (age,	hospital.	
transitions		compared the		sex.	Patient's	
of care.		results to those		surgical	lack of	
Journal of		patients treated		procedure	health	
Perioperati		with standard		type, basic	insurance	
ve Practice.		subcutaneous		metabolic	and/or	
23(10).		insulin. A total		profiles)	reliable	
222-227		of 125 patients		of both	access to	
		were involved		groups	preventive	
		in the		were	diabetes care	
		retrospective		similar	are barriers.	
		study. 93 were				
		treated with			Despite the	
		GIPPr and 32		Good	limitations.	
		were treated		exclusion	the authors	
		with SC insulin.		criteria	believe that	
		The rate of		that might	distribution	
		hypoglycemia		alter	of the GIPPr	
		in the GIPPR		results:	to other	
		group was		pregnancy	hospitals	
		0.69% while		, DKA,	with less	
		that of the SC		ACS,	resources	
		group was		acute	would be	
		4.52%. Also,		CVA,	beneficial	
		the GIPPr		hyperosm	and that the	
		showed a higher		olar	protocol is	
		proportion of		nonketotic	efficacious	
		BG readings		syndrome	than	
		between 3.89-		.,	standard	
		10mmol/L			treatment in	
		when compared			improving	
		to the SC			glycemic	
		insulin (85.4%			control	
		vs 50.68%).				
		Study				
		demonstrates				

		the use of GIPPr improved glycemic control in Type 2 diabetic adult inpatients.				
Caimari, F., Gonzalez, C., Ramos, A., Chico, A., Cubero, J. M., & Pe'rez, A. (2014). Efficacy of a hyperglyce mia treatment program in a vascular surgery department supervised by endocrinolo gy. <i>Cir</i> <i>Esp</i> ,94, 392–398	Patient adherence Protocol Efficacy Patient Safety	This study aimed at evaluating the efficacy of a hyperglycemia treatment protocol (HTP) in improving glycemic control. All patients with Type 2 diabetes hospitalized at a vascular surgery unit over 1 year period were retrospectively reviewed. A total of 140 hospitalizations of 123 patients were included. The protocol to was applied in 96.4% of patients (22.8% correction dose, 23.6% basal correction dose, and 50% basal-bolus- correction dose [BBC]). Patients with BBC had increased HbA1c and mean glycaemia on the first day of admission. Mean blood glucose was	Retrospective observational study	Long study duration (12 months) to monitor protocol efficacy Involveme nt of the Endocrino logy departmen t to oversee the study Variables and patient characteri stics were extensive	Focus on only patients from vascular surgery unit which means the participants of the study had high risk factors for chronic complication s and cardiovascul ar events. No real-time study Despite the limitations, authors stated that the patient characteristi cs was a good bonus to the study. Thus, the information obtained is appropriate to the majority of hospitalized patients, specifically surgical patients.	AACN Levels of Evidence Level B Well- defined study that supports interventi on (Armola et al., 2009).

		[				
		lower in the				
		middle and in				
		the last 24 h of				
		hospitalization				
		in patients with				
		BBC, but was				
		unchanged in				
		the remaining				
		patients.				
		In general, the				
		mean glycaemia				
		at the middle of				
		hospitalization				
		and the last day				
		of hospital stay				
		were				
		considerably				
		reduced				
		those from the				
		first day of				
		hospitalization				
		with a low rate				
		of severe				
		hypoglycemia				
		The HTP				
		demonstrated				
		improvement of				
		glycemic				
		control in				
		diabetes Type 2				
		patients during				
		hospitalization.				
Buchko,	John Hopkins	This study was	Retrospective	Comparati	Not all	AACN
B.L., Artz,	Nursing	done to assess	chart reviews	ve design	patients in	Levels of
В.,	Evidence-	whether the		C	the hospital	Evidence
Dayhoff,	Based	implementation	Pilot study	Long	with CSII	Level B
S., &	Practice	of an evidence-		duration	were	
March,	(JHNEBP)	based		of study(2	evaluated	Well-
K.S.	Model and	standardized	The early	years)		defined
(2012).	Guidelines	protocol would	implementation		Small	study that
Improving		improve blood	phase		sample sizes	supports
care of	Improving	glucose levels	demonstrated			interventi
patients	Staff	in Type 2	better glycemic		Authors	on
with insulin	competence	diabetic adults	control than the	No	stated that	(Armola
pumps		during	pre-	adverse	protocol 1s	et al.,
during	Detient 6 t	hospitalization.	implementation	effects	not being	2009).
nospitalizat	Patient safety	A continuous	phase while the	noted	applied	
1011. Tronglating		subcutaneous	innlow		consistently	
the		(CSII) protocol	numprementation		anu	
une avidanca I		(USII) protocol	the best regults		staff	
Nurs Care		was used. There	of alveornia		stall	
wurs Care	<u>l</u>	were 5 phases,	or grycemic		competence	

Qual		nraimplantation	control		is also a	
Quui,		premipiantation	control.		15 also a	
2/(4), 333-		phase which			problem	
340.		had 6 patients			especially	
doi:10.109/		with 141 BG			with the low	
/NCQ.0b01		readings with			patient	
3e3182595		substantial			population.	
881.		amount of			Education of	
		hyperglycemia,			staff is	
		early			important	
		implementation			because	
		comprising of			there is more	
		16 patients with			room for	
		386 BG			improvemen	
		readings with			t	
		half being				
		hyperglycemic				
		then the later				
		implementation				
		nhose with 17				
		pliase with 17				
		212 PC				
		readings with				
		majority				
		showing				
		normoglycemia.				
Adorable-	Efficacy and	Study was to	Non -	Extensive	Unrelated	AACN
Wagan, P.,	safety	assess	randomized	admission	deaths of 6	Levels of
Paz-	outcomes	improvement in	retrospective	characteri	patients	Evidence
Pacheco,E.,		glycemic	study	stics and	occurred	Level B
& Aligui,G.		control of Type		clinical	during	
(2014).		2 diabetics in		variables	implementat	Well-
Efficacy		intensive care			ion of	defined
and safety		over a 10 year		Good	protocol	non
of insulin		period using		inclusion	-	randomize
protocol		Markovitz		and	Small	d
among		insulin infusion		exclusion	sample size	controlled
medical and		protocol (MIP).		criteria	1	study that
surgical		101 patients			Authors	supports
patients		met the criteria		Extended	suggest that	interventi
admitted in		Mean time to		study	future	on
the Medical		achieve target		duration	studies	(Armola
City		blood sugar was		(10 years)	should	et al
Hospital		24hrs for MIP		(10 years)	assess the	2009)
Iournal of		compared to			efficacy of	2007).
the ASEAN		standard			this	
Endoration		treatment			uns Markovitz	
of		(physician			inculin	
Uj Endoavino		directed inculin			nisuini protocol in	
Endocrine		infusion (DDI)			protocol in	
Societies,		Influsion (PDI)).			improving	
29(2),		Blood glucose			glycemic	
doi:10.1560		levels reduced			control and	
5/jates.029.		in MIP			patient	
02.12		compared to			outcomes in	

		PDI Also MIP			ICU	
		led to a higher			natients	
		rote of targeted			patients.	
		hland sugar				
		bioou sugar,				
		reduced stay in				
		ICU, and lower				
		hypoglycemia				
		rates compared				
		to PDI.				
		Incidence of				
		hypoglycemia				
		was high				
		(5.1%) in PDI				
		while that of				
		Markovitz				
		protocol was				
		low (1.4%).				
Dodson.	NICE-Sugar	Study was to	Ouasi-	All	Short study	AACN
C.H	(Normoglyce	assess glycemic	experimental	patients in	duration (2	Levels of
Simpson	mia in	control in the	nosttest design	unit that	months)	Evidence
1 &	intensive care	ICU setting	positest design	was	montilis)	Level B
Feinstein	evaluation-	after	Pilot study	ordered	Small	Level D
D(2014)	Survival	implementation	1 not study	the	sample size	Well
D. (2014).	Jusing	of a revised		nrotocol	sample size	defined
onycennic control in c	Chaose	of a fevised		butha	Savaral	atudu that
control in a	Algorithms			by the	limitationa	study that
interical	Algorithm Decelation			physician	initiations	supports
intensive	Regulation )	nypergiycemia		were	not used in	interventi
care setting:	triai	protocol. 42		included	study: LOS,	on (A 1
Revision of		adults were		in study	comorbiditie	(Armola
an intensive		utilized (25		<b>F</b> 1 ·	S, APACHE	et al.,
care unit	Patient safety	diabetics and 17		Exclusion	score, which	2009
nurse-		non-diabetics)		criteria fit	may have	
driven		with 1650 blood		the type of	negatively	
hyperglyce		glucose (BG)		study:	impacted	
mia		measurements		type 1	study	
protocol.		over a 2 month		diabetes	outcomes	
Crit Care		period. Results				
Nurs, 37(2),		after protocol		No	Authors	
170-181.		implementation		adverse	recommende	
doi:		showed 73% of		events	d that future	
10.1097/C		BG were within		reported	research	
NQ.000000		targeted range		-	should	
00000001		and only 26%		Education	perform	
6		were >180.		was	further	
		Mean BG in the		provided	evaluation	
		diabetics was		to the ICU	of the ICU	
		177 while that		nurses by	hyperglycem	
		of non-diabetic		the	ia protocol	
		was 144.		inpatient	to determine	
		Authors		glycemic	its	
		conclude the		control	applicability	
		protocol		team	to different	
		improved			health	
		mprovou			nounn	

	glycemic control in ICU		systems.	
	patients and			
	lowered the rate			
	10			
	hypoglycemia.			

## Appendix B: Coaching Questionnaire

Knowledge of self-care management:

Choose which food/drink that will likely increase your blood sugar and should be avoided. Choose all that apply.

(a). Soda (b). Spinach (c). Wheat bread (d). Fast food (e). Tortilla When and how should you check your blood sugar?

When should you record your blood sugar levels and/or analyze the value chart with your blood glucose meter?

How many minutes of exercise is recommended for you daily? Should you skip your diabetes medications if you don't feel like taking them? What time of day should you do your fasting blood glucose test? Which is better? Fast foods or home cooked meals? Why? Choose a better food option: baked foods or fried foods? What should your ideal fasting blood glucose result be? What are symptoms of low and high blood sugars and what should you do?

Daily Practice:

When was your last hemoglobin A1C done and what was the number? What is considered a good number?

How many times did you check your blood sugar last week?

Can you do a 24 hour diet recall for breakfast, lunch, dinner?

What were your lowest and highest blood glucose levels in the past week? What time do you eat dinner every night?

How many full meals do you eat in a day?

How many servings of fruits and vegetables have you had daily, this week?

What type of exercise do you do and for how many minutes a day?

Approximately how many times did you cook at home this month?

Do you follow up with your doctor regularly or are there barriers you face in going to your appointments?

		2	Blood	Glucos	e and H	ood Lo	S Name:		
		E	Breakfast	Snack		Lunch	Snack	D	linner
Date:	Food & Drinks (Include size of servings)	Total carbo		Cather a	Total carbs:		Cathe: #	Total carbo	
	Glurose	Referer	2 brs after	canutg	Before:	2 hrs after	Canos 8	Refner	2 hrs afte
	Culators	DEIGHT,	* 103 Milet.		Deside.	A SHE MINTS.		Denne.	
Date:	Food & Drinks (Include size of servings)	Total carbs:	8	Carbs:g	Total carbs: _		Carbs:g	Total carbs: ,	8
	Glucose	Before:	2 hrs after:		Before:	2 hrs after:		Before	2 hrs afte
Date:	Food & Drinks (Include size of serv- ings)	2	1		3		Code:	Tast salar	
		Total carbs:		Carbs:g	Total carbs:	g	Carus g	TOPLICEDS:	

Appendix C: Documentation Template

Appendix D: Qualitative Results

Number of Responses	Questions	Qualitative data/Responses
18	How many servings of fruits	"Maybe one, I don't have
	and vegetables have you had	money to buy food, fresh fruits
	daily, this week?	and vegetables every time"
21	How many full meals do you	"I can only afford one full
	eat in a day?	meal a day"
		"I have to buy food outside
		due to my work schedule"
28	Do you follow up with your	"I don't have transportation to
	doctor regularly or are there	go to my appointment"
	barriers you face in going to	"I have to go to work"
	your appointments?	"Sometimes, I forget to go"
23	How many times did you	About twice only, because I
	check your blood sugar last	don't have time due to
	week?	working long hours"
		"I forget sometimes"
		"I need a new glucometer and
		testing strips"
30	What type of exercise do you	"I do a lot of walking and

do and for how many	lifting at work and by the time
minutes a day?	I get home, I am tired"